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Cthere 's one word that captures the spirit of what
gL year 2005 meant for Digens, it’s “momentum.” A
specirum of 5@@ rtners joinea us in our mission:

taking to a new level the campaign
ﬁn@almcaf@ orof @SS ionals and women

@p@&& ng Digene into an ever-stronger
adler in diagnostics that promote
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CORPORATE PROFILE

A leader in molecular diagnostics, Digene develops, manufactures and markets proprietary DNA and
RNA tests—with a focus on women'’s health and infectious disease. The company’s flagship product,
The Digene® HPV Test (also known as DNAwithPap®Test), is the only FDA-approved test for the human
papillomavirus (HPYV), the primary cause of cervical cancer.

Digene’s product portfolio also includes DNA tests for the detection of other sexually transmitted infections,
including chlamydia and gonoirhea, as well as tests for blood viruses. Through its own staff or affiliated
distributors, Digene markets its tests in more than 40 countries worldwide. Headguartered in Gaithersburg,
MD, Digene is traded on NASDAQ under the symbol DIGE.




ACOG recognized HPV testing as “more sensitive than cytology™

32 U.S. states passed laws or resolutions as part of the “Challenge to
Eliminate Cervical Cancer,” including 3 insurance mandates for HPV testing
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Global HPV revenue jumped 31%

|

Familiarity with HPV testing increased 90% among targeted women

1) American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists (ACTG) Practice Bulletin,
inicat Management Guidelines for Cbstetrician-Gynaco ogists No. 81, Aprit 2005,




Mobilizing Women

For the first time, there is a type of cancer that is within
our ability to eliminate. We know the cause of cervical
cancer, we can identify who has i, and we know who
is most at risk (women age 30 and
over). Polls show that once women
are exposed to this information,
they choose to know their HPV
status. The problem: Too many
women still haven’t heard about
HPV, much less the HPV test. In
FY ‘05, we set out to change that.

The print ads placed in nine U.S. women'’s magazines
beginning in the spring of FY ‘05 focused on two
findings from consumer research: The Pap test is
universally recognized by women as important to
their health, but very few are aware of just what
causes cervical cancer, or that the Pap alone is not
enough to protect them.




The TV ad that debuted in three pilot markets—
Philadelphia, Atlanta and Baltimore—re-created
what naturally occurred in focus groups
conducted to test Digene’s creative campaign.
Any time women got together to learn about
HPV, the question most commonty asked was,
“"Why didn't | know that?” The “home movie”
style of the ad reflects the spontaneous sense
of empowerment generated when women talk
directly to women.

We knew we had to develop a simple, straightforward
message, then deliver it enough times, using vehicles
women rely on and trust, to break through the clutter of
health information that saturates today’s environment.
After the ads began appearing across the United
States in national women’s magazines, on TV in
targeted cities and on the Internet, it soon became
clear we had been successful. Research conducted
in the first three TV pilots, just three months after

the campaign kickoff, showed that women were
responding to the call to action: “The HPV Test. Ask
Your Doctor. Tell Your Friends.” Sixty-five percent of
the women who saw our ads said they already had
received the HPV test, had called their doctors about
it or planned to ask for it at their next appointment.

Meanwhile, our ads were reinforced by a new Web site

just for women (www.TheHPVTest.com) and through

increasing recognition among “earned media”"—

articles and broad-
casts written or
produced by jour-
nalists themselves.
By the end of FY "05,
tracking showed that
84% of all articles
and broadcasts

on cervical cancer
highlighted the use
of HPV testing for
routine screening.

HPY TEST FAMILIARITY®
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WOMEN IN GOVERNMENT P

This network of bipartisan female state legislators has adopted the f{\“\\
elimination of cervical cancer as one of its primary goals. In January ‘ /:;:JQ b
2005, the group released “A Call to Action: The ‘State’ of Cervical Cancer %:;Z—{Ei:?}
Prevention in America.” By the end of FY ‘05, members of Women in N
Government had introduced resolutions or legislation promoting cervical OMEN T\’

cancer prevention using the latest technologies in 42 states. Thirty-two
passed—including three calling for mandated insurance coverage of HPV
testing. Visit www.womeningovernment.org/prevention.

CCALITION FOR LABOR UNION WOMEN

In an initiative called “Cervical Cancer Prevention Works,” the Coatition for
Labor Union Women (CLUW) is working to reduce cervical cancer rates
among the more than é million women in union families across North America.
Members are educated on HPV and cervical cancer prevention, including
HPV testing, via union presentaticons, health fairs and conferences, as well

as materials disiributed through 75 chapters based in the United States and
Canada. Visit www.cluw.org/cervcancer.html.




THE BALM IN GILEAD

Originally formed to help stop the spread of HIV/AIDS throughout the
African diaspora by working with black churches and other faith communities,
this unique organization has now expanded its work to inclucle cervical cancer
prevention. Called the ISIS Project (Intimate Sessions for Informed Sexuality),
the initiative kicked off with a national advisory board on HPV and cervical
cancer, a five-city “educational tour” and a training program for black women
faith leaders around the country to help mobilize their congregations.
Visit www.theisisproject.org.

ing Forees

The call for HPV testing is lbecoming a naticnal
movement! [n FY ‘05, several influential,
independent organizations interested in
women's health added their power o
Digene’s—reaching millions of women
from different walks of life.

WOMEN'S NATIONAL
BASKETBALL ASSOCIATION

The elimination of cervical cancer is a new focus of
community outreach for the WNBA. A "Dream Team”
of participating players—including Lisa Leslie, center
for the Los Angeles Sparks and a two-time MVP—is
reaching out to women through media interviews

and public appearances to encourage them to talk to
their doctors about cervical cancer screening and HPV
testing. Mind.Body.Spirit. is the theme of the WNBA's
community- and cause-related activities, and cervical
cancer prevention is a natural fit.
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as a standard of care. Incorporating routine HPV testing into their practices often requires rethinking
of established procedures, and Digene facilitates that transition by positioning itself as a partner.
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vietivating FHealtheare Protessionals

Digene’s clinician sales representatives R -
(CSRs) are chosen and trained to be ) ::_ |
more than salespersons. They are o
suloject matter experts—equipped with
the expertise and resources needed
to help healthcare professionals get
up to speed on the atest research and
on how to apply practice guidelines, — L
counsel their patients and strengthen

the value of the annual visit. Digene’s force of CSRs and
managers doubled in size during FY ‘05, armed with
new tools such as a suite of patient-education resources
and a reimbursement hotline. Essential to their work are
Digene’s laboratory partners. They showed particular
innovation this year in working with us to train their own
sales forces, and in spreading the word about HPY
testing to both healthcare professionals and women.
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Digene’s CSR force—which grew to 64 in FY '05—is key to
the adoption of HPV testing by physicians and nurses. Their
educational efforts are helped by the growing body of data
and guidelines that support primary HPV testing—including
the Practice Bulletin on HPV issued by the American College of
Obstetricians and Gynecologists (ACOG) in April of 2005, which
recognized primary HPV testing as more sensitive than cytology.
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igene markets iis tesis in more than 40 countries worldwide. In the
words of a rﬁpw antative of the International Agency for Research
en Cancer: “...the introduction 0! | 2V testing as the primary cervical
soreening test will depend or: @ ra e of acsldreumsiance: Itis likely,
nowever, that [it] WE%," snowball uneo a few posuations have moved
ahead ana demon hows Toan be gelverad” Thalevidence s

ceginning to accumuiate,
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a public haalth system—- '
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All takeled countries are locations ot Digene offices o distributors.




[N EUROPE, a study focusing on four key countries—rFrance, the United Kingdom, ialy
and the Netherlands—concluded that the addition of HPV testing, either as a follow-
up fo cytology or with a Pap for routine screening, can improve health at a reasonable
cost. Several countries—including the United Kingdom and lRaly—are going a sfep
further and studying the use of HPV lesting as a stand-alone diagnestic, with cylology
as follow-up.

Ik THE ASIA-PACIFIC region, our partner in Japan is promoting a
more ecenomic and culturally sensitive approach to screening.
Only around 18% of Japanese women regularly participate in the

. fraditional cytology-centered scraening program. The new approach
te HPY testing is “self-sampling,” with tocal cancer screening
centers offering follow-up and counseling. It's an innovation that
is expected to have application around the world.

Apale




Reflecting Digene’s commitment to extending the
benefits of improved cervical cancer screening to
women everywhere, the company is making significant
progress in its partnership with PATH (Program for
Appropriate Technology in Health), an international,
non-profit organization whose mission is to create
sustainable, culturally relevant solutions that enable
communities worldwide to break longstanding cycles
of poor health. Together, we are working to develop
an HPV test customized for developing countries such
as China and India. Developing countries account for
80% of all cervical cancer deaths worldwide.

Photo courtesy of R. Peck, PATH

Building vor the Future

The Digene vision is to significantly improve human healthcare through
diagncstics, with a special focus on women'’s health. The company has
revolutionized cervical cancer screening through gene-lcased HPV testing,
and we plan to maintain that leadership into the future. We expect our
HPV-testing technology tc continue to improve, enhanced by the licensing
agreement executed in FY ‘05 with Luminex Corporation. Luminex
technology is expected to allow the Digene Hybrid Capture® platform

to be used to test simultaneously for multiple diseases or health markers.
Meanwhile, our genotyping reagents now under development will allow
healthcare professionals to stratify which women are at highest risk, and
promise tc be an essential complement tc future vaccines. Alsc on the
herizon is “dcHPV"—a low-cost, easy-toc-use version of Digene’s HPV test
for developing countries. However, Digene has aspirations beyond HPV.
The company is actively looking to capitalize on its expertise in molecular
diagnostics research, manufacturing and distribution by expanding intc
other arenas through in-licensing and acquisitions.
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Why do we have so much confidence in Digene, and why
should you? The company is a top-tier cancer-screening
player with a first-mover advantage in a market estimated
to represent a billon-dollar opportunity: HPV testing. We
continue to offer the only FDA-approved test for high-
risk HPV, the value of which has been recognized by
relevant expert organizations and nearly every major
insurer. We've shown our ability to capitalize on these
accomplishments by building one of the fastest-growing
diagnostic companies and by establishing profitaiole
operations. Today, we have more than $46 million in cash,
cash equivalents and short-term investments, and a staff
that totals nearly 450 worldwide. We are continuing to fuel
our growth through research and development that keeps
us competitive, a commitment to quality and innovative
approaches to customer education. In FY ‘05, our global
HPV-related revenues grew 31% and the number of tests
sold worldwide increased by 38%—now exceeding 5
million. This is a track record that represents momentum
that can lbe carried over into future endeavors. Join us.

TOTAL HPY REVENUE U.S. HPY REVENUE CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS &
{8 Millions) (§ Millions) SHORT TERM INVESTMENTS
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Momentum is bmldmg from our efforts to revolutionize cervical cancer

screening with the use of our gene-based HPV tests. In the United States,

we grew our HPV testing business to more than 3.5 million tests in FY “05,
and we expect continued progress in 2006 and beyond.”

PRE-TAX OPERATING INCOME HET INCOME NET INCOME PER SHARE CASH FLOW FRORM CPERATIONS
{5 Miltions) ($ Millions) {$/share) ($ Millions)
8 0.4 20
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Excluding special items. Please see pages 51 and 52 for the reconciliation of GAAP to non-GAAP financial information.
**Excludes $14 million in patent-litigation setilement expense from the reported cash flow from operations of $2,563,403.

Fiscal 2005 wes & year of grea’ progress for Digene. improving ~uman healthcare with our tesis and

We significantly grew our revenue ard increased building our leadership position in women’s health
Digene's underlying profiiebiilly. This signag’ecd a new  diagnostics. Momentum is building from our
phase in the growth of cur business, as worlcwid efforts to revolutionize cervical cancer screening
HPV test revenues increased ‘o more than $97 mitlior.  with the use of our gene-based HPV tests. In the
We increased ourinvesiment in our U.S. sales and United States, we grew our HPV testing business io
marketing infrastructure by exozanding our chysician more than 3.5 millicn tests in =Y ‘05, and we expect
detailing organization and Initiating a directic continued progress in 2006 and beyond,

consumer educational campaign. The execulion of
these activities contributed o & 34% grewih in our
U.S. HPV test revenues, which exceeded $77 million,
and a 28% increase intotal revenue, whichended the
year at more “han $115 million.

Our strategy end vision for the {uiure ere clear,

We n".an “o continue our pioneering efforisto
revoluticnize cervicel cancer screening, lavorag
our provear sales anc markeling capabilities, an

capitaiize on cur me.eculer dizgnosiics research,

During FY ‘05, we continued tc make significant rmanufaciuring and distribution experisa. We also

sirerginen and expand our business

)

progress towards achievirg cur visien of are working




through in-licensing and acquisition activities. Digene
made great progress in each of these areas during FY
‘05, as we describe in more detailin this letter.

Revolutionizing Cervical Cancer Screening

The benefits of HPV screening have received
significant scientific and medical recognition
over the past year. New clinical guidelines and
studies were presented or published, including
an ACOG bulletin that recognizes HPV testing as
more sensitive than cytology, a large study from
Kaiser Permanente documenting the efficacy

of HPV testing for primary screening, and data
from the National Cancer Institute supporting the
use of HPV genotyping following a positive HPV
screening test and a negative Pap.

To capitalize on the medical community’s growing
recognition of HPV testing as an emerging
standard of care, and to accelerate our commercial
progress, we invested early in the fiscal year in
several initiatives designed to increase HPV test
sales in the United States. Our initiatives included
a significant expansion of our clinician sales
organization, enhanced co-marketing programs
with our laboratory customers and execution of

a multi-faceted marketing program. Marketing
activities launched during the fiscal year included
a direct-to-consumer advertising campaign,
coniinuing medical education programs designed
1o help physicians get more value from patients’
annual visiis, and partnerships with women'’s
advocacy organizations. These investmentis are
paying off. For example, insurers representing
more than 225 million coverad lives now reimburse
for prirary HPY testing with a Pap. And legislation
or resolutions calling for improved cervical cancer
education and preveniion have been passed in

e number of siates, including three thai require

Chartes M. Fleischman, President, Chief Operating Officer,
Chief Financial Officer and Director, and Evan Jones, Chief
Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board of Directors

insurance coverage of primary HPV testing as

part of cervical cancer screening for women age
30 and older. The bottom line: Our U.S. HPV test
revenue increased 19% from the first half of FY ‘05 to
the second half, and for the full year, U.S. HPV test
revenues increased 34% to more than $77 million.

The prospects for our international business also
are encouraging. During FY ‘05, revenues for our
international HPV testing business increased

21% to more than $20 million, contributing to total
revenue growth of 16% to more than $26 million.
We increased European HPV test revenues by
21% to more than $15 million, due to growth

in countries such as Germany, Italy, Spain and
France. Meanwhile, we are developing our
dcHPV test in conjunction with PATH to address
the growing opporiuniiies for HPY testing in
developing countries. This low-cost baich-testing
system could be the key o esiablishing large-
scale governmental HPV testing programs in low-
resource setlings.

L._\g__/__l



Building for the Future

While we are focused on growing our existing HPV
test business, we also are pursuing strategies for
ensuring additional revenue sireams in 2007 and
beyond. For example, we are focusing our R&D
investments on next-generation platforms and
menu expansion. Our primary efforts include
crograms directed at developing improved
molecuiar diagnostics for the detection of HPY,

as weli as other targets of interest in the area of

women's cancers and infectious diseases.

Meanwhile, automation to aid our leb customers
in processing their rapidly growing volume of HPV
tests is a pricrity. During the year, we completed
the initial deveicpment phase of @ new method
for processirg specimens. This brings us near
completion of a clinicat tricl o suppori a PMA
supplement application, which we anticipaie filing
with the FDA in the ‘all of this year. Development
work on instrumentation to au‘omate this sample-
preparaiion procedure is progressing well, and we
plan to commercially launch the system in calendar
2007. We expect this system ic automate ihe
crecessing of 350 liquic-be
approximately two hours, a significant improvement
over the marual method currantly emoloyec.

sed Pap scecimensin

In May, we signed &
Luminex Corporation that provides Sigene with

licens! ng agreement with

access o the Luminex xXMAP® bead-based
multiplexing technology, atiowing us o cevelop
and commercialize nexi-generation procucis for
use inwomen’s health diagnostics. We beleve
cortani miesicne in
Hybrid

m, KNOWT. &3 hc4, and stretegicaily

this agreement marks anim
the development of cur naxt-generation -
Capture® platfer

«r\"\

positions the company to maintain our pos’

as a leader in the field. We have estabiished the

technical feasibility for ultra-sensitive, multiplex
detection chemistry to be usedin hcg, and are
transitioning to the development phase for a
fully automated instrument. In addition, we are
evaluating two products that can be used in the
laboratory for HPV genotyping.

Strenglhening Qur Business

As the worldwide leader in HPV testing, Digene

is uniquely positioned with strong intellectual
property and market-leading tests. With the
prospecis for expansion of the overall field growing
increasingly strong, it is critical that Digene continue
to build and protect its competitive position. During
the fiscal year, we announced separate setilement
and licensing agreements with Enzo Biochem and
Georgetown University. These agreemenis bring an
end to the uncertainty surrounding the litigation with
these pariies and pui Digene in a strong IP position
going forward, allowing us to fully focus our efforts
and resources on our HPV testing business. We
believe we have taken the right path by resolving
these issues. We also are actively reviewing in-
licensing anc acquisition opportuniiies that can
help further strengthen our positionin the field of
women's health diagnostics.

Maintaizing & Strong Financial Foundztion

The momenium generated d]unng FY ‘05 helped
create recorc financial periormance. We achieved
ore-tax income, excluding the specialitems
described betow, cf $10.8 million in FY ‘05—

an increase of 49% over FY ‘04. Gross margin on
product sales increased to 82% for FY ‘05, end we
generaied cash flow from operailons of $i4.6 million,
excluding paient setilement costs of $14 million.

Although we reporied a netloss for the year of
$8.2 milllon, cur net income for 7Y ‘C5—exciuding
-~




“While we are focused on growing our existing HPV test
business, we also are pursuing strategies for ensuring
additional revenue streams in 2007 and heyond.”

special items—was $6.7 million, or $0.32 per dituted
share, compared to netincome for FY ‘04—excluding
special items—of $4.5 million, or $0.22 per diluted
share. In FY ‘05, special items consisted of the
exclusion from our GAAP results of $21.5 million

in patent-litigation settlement expenses (due to
separate settlement and licensing agreements with
Enzo Biochem and Georgetown University) and

an adjustment to reflect a 38% effective tax rate. In
FY ‘04, specialitems consisted of an adjustment to
reflect a 38% effective tax rate. (Please see pages 51
and 52 for the reconciliation of GAAP to non-GAAP
financial information.)

We have worked hard to implement the recent
advances in corporate-governance “best practices”
into our operations. in June, we strengthened our
Board of Directors when Frank J. Ryan became a
member—bringing the number of independent
directors to five. During the fiscal year, we also

Evan Jones
Chief Executive Officer and
Chairman o the Board of Directors

implemented new internal control standards
mandated by the landmark Sarbanes-Oxley
legislation. Beginning in FY ‘06, we will recognize
stock option expenses in our income statement.

Maling Good on the “Digene Commitment”

In fiscal 2005, we set and achieved new quality
standards while shipping more than 5 million HPV
tests worldwide. This accomplishment, as well as the
others highlighted in this letter, represents the hard
work of approximately 450 dedicated professionals
employed by the company. With a worldwide
network of loyal customers and collaborators, and
plans to spend more than $80 millionin FY ‘06 io
develop our technology and grow our business,
we are optimistic about our future.

We thank our employees, customers, collaborators
and stockholders for your continuing support, and
we look forward to another year of achievement.

Charles M. Fleischman
President, Cnief Operating Officer,
Chief Financial Officer and Director

September 8, 2005
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Board of Directors

Evan Jones

John J. Whitehead

Evan Jones
Chief Executive Officer and

Chairman of the Board of Directors,

Digene Corporation

Charles M. Fleischman

President, Chief Operating Officer
and Chief Financial Officer,
Digene Corporation

Standing (left to right): Charles M. Fleischman, Donna Marie Seyfried, AttitaT. Lorincz, Ph.D,, Robert Mc.y@z 4tley,
Belinda O. Patrick and Joseph P. Slattery. Seated (left to rig;ht): Vincent 1. Napoleon and Evan Jones.

Evan Jones

Chief Executive Officer and
Chairman of the Board of
Directors

Charles M. Fleischman
President, Chief Operating
Officer

and Chief Financial Officer

Charles M. Fleischman

Cynthia L. Sullivan

Joseph M. Migliara
Private Investor

John H. Landon
Retired Executive with E.l. duPont
de Nemours and Company

i

Vincent J. Napoleon
Senior Vice President,
General Counsel and Secretary

Robert McG. Lilley
Senior Vice President,
Global Sales and Marketing

Joseph M. Migliara

Kenneth R. Weisshaar

John J. Whitehead
Partner, Whitehead Partners

Cynthia L. Sullivan
President and Chief Executive
Officer, Immunomedics, Inc.

Attila T. Lorincz, Ph.D.

Senior Vice President,
Research and Development
and Chief Scientific Officer

Belinda O. Patrick
Senior Vice President,
Manufacturing Operations

Frank J. Ryan

Kenneth R. Weisshaar
Former Executive with
Becton, Dickinson & Company

Frank J. Ryan
Former Company Group
Chairman, Johnson & Johnson

3
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Joseph P. Slattery
Senior Vice President,

Finance and Information Systems

Donna Marie Seyfried
Vice President,
Business Development




Digene Corporation 2005 Financials

Significant Product Revenues and Assets

($ in thousands) Fiscal 2003 % Fiscal 2004 % Fiscal 2005 %

Product revenues from U.S. operations $45,603 73% $65,655 74% $86,928 77%
Product revenues from non-U.S. operations 16,837 27% 23,160 26% 26,291 23%
Revenues from HPV test products worldwide 51,114 82% 74,581 84% 97,437 86%
Assets located in U.S. 50,843 80% 92,506 90% 92,654 87%
Assets located outside U.S. 12,532 20% 10,764 10% 14,191 13%
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Selected Consoclidated Financial Data

The selected consolidated financial data set forth below with respect to Digene’s Consolidated Statements of Operations for the
fiscal years ended June 30, 2003, 2004 and 2005 and with respect to Digene's Consolidated Balance Sheets at June 30, 2004 and
2005 are derived from the audited Consolidated Financial Statements of Digene, which are included elsewhere in this Annual
Report. Consolidated Statements of Operations data for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2001 and 2002 and Consolidated
Balance Sheet data at June 30, 2001, 2002 and 2003 are derived from Consolidated Financial Statements of Digene not included
herein. The selected consolidated financial data set forth below is qualified in its entirety by, and should be read in conjunction
with, the Consolidated Financial Statements, the related Notes thereto and Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations included elsewhere in this Annua! Report.

Fiscal Year Ended June 30,
2001 2002 2003 2004 2005

(in thousands, except per share income (loss))

Consolidated Statement of Operations Data:

Revenues:
Product sales™ $ 32,706 $ 45,750 $ 62,440 $ 88,815 $113,219
Distribution contract™ 838 2,357 — — —
Other revenues 653 741 662 1,346 1,923
Total revenues 34,197 48,848 63,102 90,161 115,142
Costs and expenses:
Cost of product sales™ 12,553 12,938 13,383 16,717 20,128
Royalty and technology®™ 1,283 2,093 2,814 1,705 5,394
Research and development 8,120 9,265 10,262 10,744 12,964
Selling and marketing® 11,265 17,742 25,099 34,918 45,933
General and administrative 8,336 14,024 16,642 19,298 20,265
Abbott termination fee — 2,500 — — —
Amortization of intangible assets 150 150 — — —
Patent litigation settlements — — — — 21,500
Total costs and expenses 41,707 58,712 68,200 83,382 126,184
Income (loss) from operations (7,510} (9,864) (5,098) 6,779 (11,042)
Interest income 1,194 729 593 459 808
Interest expense (GR))] (32) (273) (184) 37)
Other income (expense) (37) (20) 678 163 (116)
Income (loss) from operations before
minority interest and income taxes (6,364) (9,187) (4,100) 7,217 (10,387)
Minority interest — — — — (353)
Income (loss) from operations
before income taxes (6,364) (9,187) (4,100) 7,217 (10,740)
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes 117 210 224 (14,325) (2,573)
Net income (loss) $ (6,481) $ (9,397) $ (4,324) $ 21,542® $ (8,167)
Basic net income (loss) per share® $ (0.39) $ (0.54) $ (0.24) $ 113 $ (0.41)
Diluted net income (loss) per share® $ (0.39) $ (0.54) $ (0.29) $ 1.04 $  (0.41)
Basic weighted average shares outstanding® 16,557 17,361 18,136 19,144 19,965
Diluted weighted average shares outstanding® 16,557 17,361 18,136 20,806 19,965
2001 2002 2003 2004 2005
Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:
Working capita! $ 26,905 $ 39,828 $36,119 $ 61,786 $ 52,988
Total assets 48,195 67,241 63,375 103,270 106,845
Long-term debt, less current maturities 1,000 3,690 2,154 686 572
Accumulated deficit (61,968) (71,365) (75,688) (54,146) (62,313)
Total stockholders’ equity 26,334 39,639 43,006 86,063 79,403

(1) Certain amounts have been reciassified to conform to current presentation.
(2) Computed on the basis described in Note 2 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
(3) A portion of the increase in net income primarily relates to the partial reversal of the deferred tax valuation allowance approximating $14.9 miilion.
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Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition

and Results of Operations

The following discussion of our financial condition and results
of operations should be read in conjunction with our
Consolidated Financial Statements and the related Notes to
such Consolidated Financial Statements also included in this
Annual Report. Some of the information that follows are not
statements of historical fact but merely reflect our intent,
belief or expectations regarding the anticipated effect of
events, circumstances and trends. Such statements should be
considered as forward-looking statements within the mean-
ing of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. We
believe that our expectations are based on reasonable
assumptions within the bounds of our knowledge of our busi-
ness and operations. Factors that might cause or contribute to
differences between our expectations and actual results
include: uncertainty of market acceptance of our products by
the worldwide medical community; our need to obtain third-
party reimbursement approval from additional government
entities, managed care organizations, and private insurance
plans, particularly outside the United States; risk that other
companies may develop and market human papillomavirus
(HPV) tests competitive with our own; our ability to scale up
our manufacturing to the extent demand for our products
increases; our limited sales and marketing experience; uncer-
tainty regarding patents and proprietary rights in connection
with our products and products in development; uncertainty
to the outcome of patent litigation in which we are currently
engaged; the extent of future expenditures for sales and mar-
keting programs; delay in or failure to obtain regulatory
approvals for our products in development; uncertainty of
clinical trial results for our products in development; uncer-
tainty of future profitability and cash generation from opera-
tions; our ability, if necessary, to obtain requisite additional
financing to fund our operations beyond calendar 2006; risks
inherent in international transactions, including those relating
to our expansion in Europe and elsewhere; and other factors
as set forth in our filings with the United States Securities and
Exchange Commission.

Overview
Since our incorporation in 1987, we have devoted substantiaily
all of our resources to developing, manufacturing and market-
ing our proprietary gene-based testing systems using our pat-
ented Hybrid Capture®technology for the screening, monitoring
and diagnosis of human diseases. In prior years we incurred
substantial operating losses, resulting principally from expenses
associated with our research and development programs,
including preclinical studies, clinical trials and regulatory sub-
missions for our products, the expansion of our manufacturing
facilities and our global sales and marketing activities.

Our revenues, to a significant extent, have been derived
from the sales of our diagnostic tests for the presence of HPV,
which accounted for 85% of total revenues in fiscal 2005. We

expect that the growing acceptance of HPV testing in cervical
cancer screening programs, both in the United States and
internationally, will continue to drive the growth in revenues
from our HPV test products in the future.

In fiscal 2005, our gross margin on product sales increased
to 82% as compared to 81% in fiscal 2004. In fiscal 2006, we
believe that we will be able to sustain a gross margin of
approximately 80%. We calculate gross margin as the differ-
ence between product sales and the cost of product sales,
which excludes royalty and technology expense, as a percent-
age of product sales for the period.

We have in-licensed patents to a number of cancer-causing
human papillomavirus types, biological materials and other
intellectual property on which we pay royalties, patent main-
tenance and other technology access costs. Our total royalty
and technology expenses are expected to be approximately
5% to 6% of product sales in fiscal 2006.

Our sales and marketing expenditures have been, and will
continue to be, focused on accelerating the adoption of HPV
testing worldwide. We intend to capitalize on the expanded
indications for use of our HPV test products and the growing
acceptance of our HPV test products in the United States and
internationally by physicians, laboratories and health insur-
ance providers by materially increasing expenditures for sales
and marketing programs over the next several quarters. We
have also significantly expanded our sales organization in the
United States and increased our investment in physician
detailing and direct-to-consumer promotion activities.

During fiscal 2005 one significant area of investment was
in our European infrastructure and distribution operations, in
which we expect to continue to invest in fiscal 2006.

We expect to increase the size of our investment in
research and development for the next several quarters and
focus our research and development expenditures in the
development of our next-generation Hybrid Capture plat-
forms and other research and development programs primar-
ily related to HPV testing.

We expect our general and administrative expenses will
increase to support the overall growth of our business.

On Qctober 13, 2004, we executed a Settlement and
License Agreement to settle the then-pending patent litiga-
tion with Enzo Biochem, Inc. and its subsidiary Enzo Life
Sciences, Inc. (formerly known as Enzo Diagnostics, inc.) (col-
lectively, Enzo). As a result, we recorded a pre-tax charge of
$14 million in patent litigation settlement expense in the
quarter ended September 30, 2004. Additionally, we will pay
Enzo royalties on future net sales of products covered by the
license grant. Please see "Liquidity and Capital Resources”
below for a description of the Enzo settlement.

On July 12, 2005, we entered into a Settlement and License
Agreement with Georgetown University (Georgetown) to
settle the then-pending litigation. As a result, we recorded a
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pre-tax charge of $7.5 million in the quarter ended June 30,
2005. We will also pay Georgetown royalties on future net
sales of products covered by the license grant. Please see
“Liquidity and Capital Resources” below for a description of
the Georgetown settlement.

Although we anticipate increasing our expenditures as
described above, we anticipate that factors such as the impact
of our ability to sustain our gross margins will offset the
impact such increased expenditures would have on our oper-
ating profits. We expect to generate operating profits in fiscal
2006; however, there can be no assurance that we will meet
this goal.

Results of Operations

Fiscal % Fiscal % Fiscal
2005 change 2004 change 2003
(in thousands)
Total revenue $115,142  28% $90,161 43% $63,102
Product sales 113,219  28% 88,815 42% 62,440
HPV test
product
revenue 97,437 31% 74,581 46% 51,114
Cost of
product sales 20,128 20% 16,716 25% 13,383
Gross margin{® 82% 81% 79%
Royalty and
technology
expense $ 5393 216% $ 1,705 (39)% $ 2,814

(1) We calculate grass margin as the difference between product sales and the
cost of product sales, which exclude royalty and technology expense, as a per-
centage of product sales for the period.

COMPARISON OF FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2005 TO
FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2004

Product sales in fiscal 2005 increased 28% as compared to fis-
cal 2004. The increase was due primarily to a 31% growth in
sales of our HPV test products to approximately $97,437,000.
An increase of 21% in equipment sales, to approximately
$6,565,000, also contributed to the increase in product sales.
The majority of the growth in our HPV test product revenue
was in the United States, which increased 34% to approxi-
mately $77,301,000, and in Europe, which increased 21%, to
approximately $15,613,000. In the United States, most of the
growth in our HPV test product sales was from increased
acceptance of our Digene HPV Test (also marketed as the
DNAwithPap™ Test in the United States) for adjunctive cervi-
cal cancer screening with a Pap test for women age 30 and
older, an indication approved by the U.S. Food and Drug
Administration (FDA) in March 2003. We believe the contin-
ued growth was also due in part to our direct-to-consumer
marketing campaign which began in fiscal 2005. The increase
in revenues from equipment sales primarily related to sales of
our Rapid Capture® System following the May 2004 FDA

approval of the use of such automated system to perform our
diagnostic tests. The growth in product sales in Europe related
to the success of our subsidiary operating companies and dis-
tributor operations benefiting from our coordinated sales and
marketing programs, public awareness campaigns and govern-
ment education efforts. The net impact of foreign exchange
rate fluctuations on product sales was immaterial for the fiscal
years ended June 30, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Other revenues primarily include research and develop-
ment contract revenues, equipment rental revenues and
licensing revenues. Other revenues increased 43% in fiscal
2005 to approximately $1,923,000 from approximately
$1,345,000 in fiscal 2004. The increase in other revenues in fis-
cal 2005 is largely due to a 29% increase in research and
development contract revenues to approximately $731,000,
and a 149% increase in miscellaneous revenue to $313,000,
which consists primarily of extended warranty revenue.

Cost of product sales in fiscal 2005 increased 20% as com-
pared to fiscal 2004 primarily due to increased product sales
volume. Gross margins on product sales increased to 82% in
fiscal 2005 from 81% in fiscal 2004. The increase in gross margin
percentage in fiscal 2005 was the result of a shift in product
mix from lower margin products to higher margin HPV test
products. This increase in gross margin percentage due to
product mix changes was partially offset by increased manu-
facturing overhead costs.

Royalty and technology expense increased 216% to approxi-
mately $5,393,000 in fiscal 2005 from approximately $1,705,000
in fiscal 2004. The increase in fiscal 2005 was primarily due to
increased royalty expenses, effective October 1, 2004, on net
sales of our products based on a Settlement and License
Agreement with Enzo, under which we pay Enzo royalties on
net sales of products covered by the license grant. The increase
is also due to a charge of $750,000 accrued during the quarter
ended September 30, 2004 relating to a non-exclusive license
to Institut Pasteur’s intellectual property concerning the
Hepatitis B virus genome and the reversal of approximately
$535,000 of accrual during the prior fiscal year based on the
expectation that a specific royalty accrual would not material-
ize. Please see “Liquidity and Capital Resources” below for a
description of the Enzo settlement.

Research and development expenses increased 21% in fis-
cal 2005 to approximately $12,964,000 from approximately
$10,744,000 in fiscal 2004. The increase in expenditures was
due primarily to a 17% increase in personnel costs to approxi-
mately $5,919,000, an increase in professional services of 36%
to approximately $2,608,000, and an increase in license fees
to $402,000. The increase in professional services was due
largely to costs paid to a vendor for development of a sample
preparation workstation, clinical evaluations for processing
liquid-based cytology, and costs incurred for the preparation
of compliance with the European Union In Vitro Diagnostic




Directive regulations for our Rapid Capture® System and
related accessories, for which compliance was obtained in the
last quarter of fiscal 2005. The majority of the license fees
relate to a supply and license agreement we entered into in
fiscal 2005 to develop certain next-generation products.

Our research and development activities focus on our plat-
form technology, including substantial modifications of the
design or capabilities of our products and equipment offerings.
Because our research and development expenditures tend to
benefit multiple product offerings, we do not track and main-
tain research and development expenses on a per-product or
per-disease target basis.

in fiscal 2005 our research and development activities
focused on our platform technology, including adaptations of
such technology, and improvements to our diagnostic test
and equipment products. We focused our research and devel-
opment activities in four areas: (1) core research efforts for
next-generation technologies; (2) new product development
activities; (3) support and improvement of existing product
lines and equipment offerings; and (4) support of regulatory
submissions to seek approvals to market our existing products
for additional uses and indications in the U.S. and abroad.

Qur core research efforts for next-generation technologies
include research programs for improved molecular diagnostic
assay systems for detection of HPV and other targets of interest
in the area of women’s cancers and infectious diseases, and
research on our next generation of Hybrid Capture technology.
We completed initial technical feasibility of our proprietary
next generation DNA test platform for ultra-sensitive detection
of DNA targets in a muitiplexed format and we are conducting
further evaluations to confirm the applicability of the new
method and are entering the product development stage. We
are working on products that will enable HPV genotyping,
and have two products in the development pipeline. We con-
tinue our collaborative product development and commer-
cialization agreement with PATH (Program for Appropriate
Technology in Health) to develop a rapid, batch HPV test for
resource constrained countries and have entered the second
year of that program. Digene and PATH jointly fund the
efforts subject to certain maximum funding obligations and
Digene performs the product development and commerciali-
zation activities.

Product development activities are currently focused on
improving and simplifying cervical specimen processing pro-
cedures and increasing Hybrid Capture 2 assay throughput,
including a new batch preparation method for processing
liquid-based cytology specimens for Hybrid Capture testing.
In support of this new method, we are conducting a multi-
center clinical evaluation specifically for the processing of cer-
vical specimens collected in ThinPrep® PreservCyt® Solution
(Cytyc Corporation). The results of this study will support a
pre-market approval supplement (PMA supplement) for the
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Hybrid Capture 2 testing of PreservCyt Solution specimens
processed in this manner and is expected to lead to a FDA
submission in fiscal 2006. This processing method is expected
to become part of a more comprehensive clinical sample
preparation workstation also in development, which is being
designed to automate the front-end processing of all clinical
specimen types for HPV, chlamydia (CT), and gonorrhea (GC)
testing, including specimens collected in our Specimen
Transport Media (STM). This sample preparation workstation
is intended to provide a streamlined means to prepare sam-
ples for transfer to the Rapid Capture System. We have also
begun validation of the next version of Digene Microplate
Luminometer software, which is expected to provide new
features and improvements in the data acquisition and result
reporting capabilities from our luminometer.

We are continuing efforts to expand HPV testing capabil-
ities for additional liquid-based cytology media, including
the SurePath™ collection and preservative medium (TriPath
Imaging). The regulatory work required to obtain FDA
approval for use of SurePath for HPV testing following
TriPath Imaging’s voluntary withdrawal of their PMA supple-
ment in February 2005 is ongoing as part of the continued
collaboration between Digene and TriPath Imaging.

Regulatory work was also completed in late fiscal 2005
that enabled the Rapid Capture System and associated prod-
ucts to be sold in the European Union.

Selling and marketing expenses increased 32% in fiscal
2005 to approximately $45,933,000 from approximately
$34,918,000 in fiscal 2004. The increase in fiscal 2005 was due
primarily to personnel costs, which increased 45% to approxi-
mately $14,775,000; marketing program expenses, which
increased 63% to approximately $11,531,000; and facility and
overhead costs, including travel, which increased 29% to
approximately $9,875,000. The increase in personnel costs is
due largely to increasing the size of our physician detailing
sales force for which we began hiring extensively in the mid-
dle of fiscal 2005. The increase in marketing program expenses
is the result of a direct-to-consumer awareness campaign
implemented during the quarter ended March 31, 2005. These
increases were partially offset by a 12% decrease in agency
fees to approximately $4,800,000, for our physician detailing
arrangement with PDi, Inc. PDI recruits and administers a
Digene-specific physician education sales organization dedi-
cated to educating physicians about the benefits of The
Digene HPV Test in the United States.

Geographically, the majority of the increase in our sell-
ing and marketing expenses for fiscal 2005 was incurred in
the United States, which increased 40% to approximately
$30,859,000 as compared to approximately $22,051,000 in fiscal
2004, as we expanded our direct sales and marketing activities,
including our direct-to-consumer awareness campaign, in the
United States to increase sales of our HPV test products.
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General and administrative expenses increased 5% in fis-
cal 2005 to approximately $20,265,000 from approximately
$19,298,000 in fiscal 2004. The increase was due primarily to
personnel costs, which increased 20% to approximately
$8,795,000 and an 18% increase in facility and overhead costs
to approximately $3,198,000. These increases were partially off-
set by a 13% decrease in professional services, to approximately
$6,632,000. The decrease in professional services is due largely
to a decrease in legal fees, which decreased 28% to approxi-
mately $4,380,000, partially offset by an increase in accounting
fees, which increased 56% to approximately $1,399,000.

Geographically, the majority of the increase in general and
administrative expenses for fiscal 2005 was incurred in the
United States, which increased 6%, to approximately
$13,109,000, over the corresponding period in fiscal 2004.

Patent litigation settlements relate to the October 2004
settlement with Enzo, for which $14,000,000 was recorded in
the first quarterof fiscal 2005, as well as a charge of $7,500,000
recorded in the last quarter of fiscal 2005 based on a
Settlement and License Agreement entered into with
Georgetown on July 12, 2005. Please see “Liquidity and
Capital Resources” below for descriptions of the Enzo and
Georgetown settlements.

interest income increased 76% to approximately $808,000
in fiscal 2005 from approximately $459,000 in fiscal 2004. The
increase was due to higher interest rates in fiscal 2005 com-
pared to the corresponding period in fiscal 2004, as well as
higher average short-term investment balances in fiscal 2005
compared to fiscal 2004,

Interest expense decreased to approximately $37,000 in
fiscal 2005 compared to approximately $184,000 in fiscal 2004
primarily due to the reduction in our long-term debt due to
Abbott Laboratories as quarterly principal payments were
made on an outstanding promissory note. The promissory
note was paid in full in September 2004.

Other expense was approximately $116,000 in fiscal 2005
and other income was approximately $162,000 in fiscal 2004.
The balances in both periods are primarily based on foreign
exchange rate fluctuations causing transaction gains and losses.

Minority interest was approximately $353,000 in fiscal 2005.
Minority interest represents the Digene do Brasil LTDA minority
partner’s share of the equity and earnings of the subsidiary.

The net income tax benefit of approximately $14,325,000
in fiscal 2004 was primarily related to the partial release of
the valuation allowance previously established against our
deferred tax assets. We released approximately $14,900,000
of valuation reserve in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004 which
was the estimated amount to be utilized in the foreseeable
future. Based upon projected future operating performances,
we believed, and despite fiscal 2005 operating losses still
believe, that we will be able to utilize a portion of the value
of our net operating loss (NOL) carryforward against future

taxable income. Accordingly, we recognized an income tax
benefit of approximately $2,574,000 in fiscal 2005. However,
we recognized approximately $4,283,000 of foreign operat-
ing losses before income tax from European operations dur-
ing fiscal 2005 that did not generate an income tax benefit
due to a full valuation allowance reported against foreign
deferred tax assets, including additional deferred tax assets
created by current year foreign tax losses. As of June 30,
2005 and June 30, 2004, we had total U.S. NOL carryforwards
of approximately $113,394,000 and $115,851,000, respec-
tively. We also had foreign NOL carryforwards of approxi-
mately $22,181,000 and $18,543,000 as of June 30, 2005 and
June 30, 2004, respectively. For fiscal 2005 and 2004, we have
not reversed the portion of the valuation allowance related
to the potential tax benefits from the exercise of stock
options as realization of these benefits are not likely at this
time and the amounts are expected to expire unused. Should
realization of these benefits become more likely than not,
the benefit will be reflected as a reclassification to stock-
holders’ equity. Further, we have not reversed any portion of
the valuation allowance related to foreign NOLs; should
realization of these benefits become more likely than not,
the benefit will be reflected as an increase to consolidated
statement of operations.

COMPARISON OF FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2004 TO
FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2003

Product sales in fiscal 2004 increased 42% as compared to fis-
cal 2003. The increase was due primarily to a 46% growth in
sales of our HPV test products to approximately $74,581,000,
and an increase in equipment sales of 129%, to approximately
$5,432,000, as compared to approximately $2,371,000 in fiscal
2003. The majority of the growth in our HPV test product
revenue was in the United States, which increased 45% to
approximately $57,802,000, and in Europe, which increased
57%, to approximately $12,865,000. In the United States,
most of the growth in our HPV test product sales related to
the commercial launch of our Digene HPV Test for adjunctive
cervical cancer screening with a Pap test for women age 30
and older, an indication approved by the FDA in March 2003.
The increase in revenues from equipment sales primarily
related to sales of our Rapid Capture® System following the
May 2004 FDA approval of the use of such automated system
to perform our diagnostic tests. The growth in product sales
in Europe related to the success of our subsidiary operating
companies and distributor operations benefiting from our
coordinated sales and marketing programs, public awareness
campaigns and government education efforts.

Other revenues included research and development contract
revenues, equipment rental revenues and licensing revenues.
Other revenues increased 103% in fiscal 2004 to approximately
$1,346,000 from approximately $662,000 in fiscal 2003. The




increase was due primarily to an increase of approximately
$505,000 in research and development contract revenue.

Cost of product sales in fiscal 2004 increased 25% as com-
pared to fiscal 2003 primarily due to increased product sales
volume. Gross margins on product sales increased to 81% in
fiscal 2004 from 79% in fiscal 2003. Our gross margins in fiscal
2003 were impacted by costs of approximately $425,000 asso-
ciated with a voluntary product recall in fiscal 2003; costs of
approximately $260,000 due to a fiscal 2003 increase in
reserves in anticipation of planned product discontinuations
in Europe in December 2003, other changes in our products
offerings and charges of approximately $200,000, after insur-
ance proceeds, for a freezer failure in September 2002, which
resulted in damaged inventory. The fiscal 2004 gross margin
also increased due to approximately $500,000 of manufacturing
efficiencies related to production scale-ups, product consoli-
dations and process improvements implemented during fiscal
2004. These increases in gross margin were partially offset by
increased sales of equipment, which have lower gross margins
than our diagnostic test products.

Research and development expenses increased 5% in fis-
cal 2004 to approximately $10,744,000 from approximately
$10,262,000 in fiscal 2003. The increase in expenditures was due
primarily to a 16% increase in personnel costs to approximately
$5,044,000 and a 12% increase in laboratory supplies to approxi-
mately $1,108,000, partially offset by a decrease in professional
services of 26% to approximately $1,914,000. The decrease in
professional services was due largely to decreased expenditures
in fiscal 2004, as compared to the costs incurred in fiscal 2003, to
obtain CE marking for our HPV, chlamydia and gonorrhea diag-
nostic test products in accordance with the European Union In
Vitro Diagnostic Directive, which CE marking was successfully
accomplished in December 2003. Our research and development
activities focus on our platform technology, including substan-
tial modifications of the design or capabilities of our products
and equipment offerings. Because our research and develop-
ment expenditures tend to benefit multiple product offerings,
we do not track and maintain research and development
expenses on a per-product or per-disease target basis.

In fiscal 2004, we focused our research and development activ-
ities in four areas: (1) core research efforts for next-generation
technologies; (2) new product development activities; (3) comple-
tion of activities necessary to support regulatory submissions to
seek approvals to market our existing products for additional uses
and indications in the U.S. and abroad; and (4) modification of the
design or capabilities of our product and equipment offerings.

Our core research efforts for next-generation technologies
included research programs with the goal of developing
improved molecular diagnostic assay systems for the detection
of HPV and other targets of interest in the area of women’s
cancers and infectious diseases, and research on our next gen-
eration of Hybrid Capture technology.
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During fiscal 2004, our new product development activi-
ties focused on the discovery of innovative methods to
improve specimen processing procedures and throughput to
expand the ability of laboratories to use our diagnostic tests.
The activities included procedures for the improved process-
ing of PreservCyt (Cytyc Corporation) specimens and
upgrades of our equipment offerings for high throughput
HPV, chlamydia and gonorrhea testing. We also worked to
expand HPV testing capabilities to allow testing from addi-
tional liquid cytology media, including our proprietary
Universal Collection Medium (*UCM™"), which is expected
to allow simultaneous nucleic acid testing, protein analysis
and cytological testing of human papillomavirus DNA, chla-
mydia DNA and gonorrhea DNA, and of other genetic and
cellular material from a single patient sample, and the
SurePath (TriPath Imaging) medium, for which the clinical
validation is ongoing. We also completed development of a
software improvement for our Rapid Capture System to per-
mit the simultaneous testing of multiple DNA probes, and to
improve the related laboratory processes and procedures. In
addition, in November 2003 we entered into a collaborative
product development and commercialization agreement
with PATH (Program for Appropriate Technology in Health)
to develop a rapid batch HPV test product for use in devel-
oping countries. Digene and PATH will jointly fund the
efforts subject to certain maximum funding obligations, and
Digene will perform the product development and commer-
cialization activities. During the second half of fiscal 2004
we completed the establishment of a research team to pur-
sue this program and began active research into a rapid
batch HPV test product candidate.

With respect to regulatory submissions in fiscal 2004 we:

o developed and completed the clinical validation of our
Rapid Capture System for semi-automated processing
of our hey High-Risk HPV DNA Tests. We initially submit-
ted the PMA supplement to the FDA on November 5,
2003. We provided follow-up data and information on
April 1, 2004 to facilitate completion of the FDA's review.
We received this approval on May 4, 2004. We expect
this claim will expand existing indications for our hcy
High-Risk HPV DNA Test to allow high-volume, semi-
automated human papillomavirus DNA testing.

e developed and completed the clinical validation of the
use of chlamydia and gonorrhea testing using our hcy
CT/GC Tests from Cytyc Corporation’s ThinPrep PreservCyt
Solution specimens. We submitted 510(k) pre-market
notifications for each of our test products for chlamydia
and gonorrhea (each test separately plus our combined
hcy CT/GC Test) between November 2003 and January
2004. The FDA's review of these submissions is ongoing
and we continue to work with the FDA to provide the
information needed to facilitate completion of its review.
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Finally, with respect to modification of the design or
capabilities of our diagnostic test products and equipment
offerings, in fiscal 2004 we achieved technical feasibility of
our next generation platform proprietary DNA test for
ultra-sensitive detection of DNA targets in a highly multi-
plexed modality.

Selling and marketing expenses increased 31% in fiscal
2004 to approximately $36,623,000 from approximately
$27,913,000 in fiscal 2003. The increase in fiscal 2004 was due
primarily to personnel costs, which increased 39% to approxi-
mately $12,350,000; agency fees, which increased 131% to
approximately $5,458,000; professional services, which increased
38% to approximately $2,982,000; and expenses related to
the development of physician conferences and education,
which increased 922% to approximately $592,000. These
increases were partially offset by a decrease in royalties
expense, which decreased 39% to approximately $1,705,000,
due primarily to the reversal of an accrual of approximately
$535,000 based on the reduced probability that a specific roy-
alty liability would materialize. The increase in personnel
costs related to our increased hiring activities. The increase in
agency fees related to costs under our physician detailing
agreement with PDI, Inc. PDI recruited and administered a
Digene-specific physician detailing sales organization dedi-
cated to educating physicians about the benefits of The
Digene HPV Test in the United States. The professional ser-
vices increase was due largely to the use of consultants to
assist with the rapid growth of our distribution infrastructure
in Europe.

Geographically, the majority of the increase in our selling
and marketing expenses for fiscal 2004, excluding royalties,
was incurred in the United States, which increased 57% to
approximately $22,051,000 as compared to approximately
$14,032,000 in fiscal 2003, as we expanded our direct sales
and marketing activities in the United States to increase sales
of our HPV test products.

General and administrative expenses increased 16% in fis-
cal 2004 to approximately $19,298,000 from approximately
$16,642,000 in fiscal 2003. The increase was due primarily to
personnel costs, which increased 19% to approximately
$7,832,000; insurance, which increased 44% to approximately
$1,373,000, principally related to increased costs for directors’
and officers’ insurance coverage; and professional fees, which
increased 6% to approximately $7,664,000, primarily related
to costs associated with legal matters, which increased 18%
to approximately $6,057,000.

Geographically, the majority of the increase in general and
administrative expenses for fiscal 2004 was incurred in Europe,
which increased 126%, to approximately $5,561,000, over the
corresponding period in fiscal 2003 as we invested in infra-
structure required to support the direct distribution of our
products in Europe.

Interest income decreased 23% to approximately $459,000
in fiscal 2004 from approximately $593,000 in fiscal 2003. The
decrease was due to lower interest rates in fiscal 2004 com-
pared to the corresponding period in fiscal 2003.

Interest expense decreased to approximately $184,000 in
fiscal 2004 compared to approximately $273,000 in fiscal
2003 primarily due to the reduction in our long-term debt
due to Abbott Laboratories as quarterly principal payments
were made on an outstanding promissory note, which low-
ered the debt.

Other income decreased to approximately $163,000 in
fiscal 2004 compared to $678,000 in fiscal 2003, due almost
entirely to reduced foreign exchange gains as exchange rate
fluctuations were not as significant in fiscal 2004 as they
were in 2003.

The net income tax benefit of approximately $14,325,000 in
fiscal 2004 was primarily related to the partial release of the
valuation allowance previously established against our deferred
tax assets. We released approximately $14,300,000 of valuation
reserve in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004. In fiscal 2003, the
entire deferred tax asset was fully reserved with a valuation
allowance; the $223,000 tax provision related exclusively to
foreign tax from our Brazilian operations. Based upon pro-
jected future operating performances, we believed that we
would be able to utilize a portion of the value of our NOL carry-
forwards through the reduction of future taxable income.
During fiscal 2004, the amount of valuation allowance we
released was the estimated amount to be utilized in the fore-
seeable future. As of June 30, 2004, we had total U.S. NOL carry-
forwards of approximately $115,851,000; however, we did not
reverse the portion of the valuation allowance related to the
potential tax benefits from the exercise of stock options as
realization of these benefits was not likely at the time and the
amounts are expected to expire unused. Should realization of
these benefits become more likely than not, the benefit will
be reflected as a reclassification to stockholders’ equity.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Since inception, our expenses have significantly exceeded our
revenues, resulting in an accumulated deficit of approximately
$62,313,000 at June 30, 2005. We have funded our operations
primarily through the sale of equity securities and revenues
from product sales and research and development contracts.
At June 30, 2005, we had cash, cash equivalents and short-
term investments aggregating approximately $46,082,000.
We had positive cash flows from operations of approximately
$2,563,000 for the year ended June 30, 2005 compared to posi-
tive cash flows from operations of approximately $2,064,000 for
the year ended June 30, 2004.

Net cash provided by investing activities for fiscal 2005
of approximately $9,190,000 included $14,000,000 of net
sales and maturities of short-term investments to pay patent




litigation settlement expenses, as more fully described
below, partially offset by approximately $5,218,000 of capital
expenditures. In fiscatl 2006, we expect to spend a significant
amount of working capital as we further expand our ware-
house capacity at our Gaithersburg facility, for which we
may obtain alternative financing.

On October 13, 2004 we entered into a Settlement and
License Agreement to settle our patent litigation with Enzo.
Under the Agreement with Enzo, we received an irrevocable,
non-exclusive, royalty-bearing worldwide license under iden-
tified Enzo patents. We made an initial payment to Enzo of
$16,000,000, of which $2,000,000 can be used to offset future
royalty payments under the terms of the Agreement, result-
ing in a one-time pre-tax charge of $14,000,000 in patent set-
tlement expense. We will also pay Enzo royalties on future
net sales of products covered by the license grant, which roy-
alties will be at least $2,500,000 for the first annual period
(October 1, 2004 to September 30, 2005) and at least
$3,500,000 for each of the next four annual periods. We are
obligated to make such guaranteed minimum payments in
such first five annual periods under the Enzo Agreement. Our
obligation to make royalty payments will end on April 24,
2018, unless earlier terminated in accordance with the terms
of the Enzo Agreement.

On July 12, 2005 we entered into a Settiement and License
Agreement with Georgetown. Under the Agreement with
Georgetown, we were granted irrevocable, world-wide, exclu-
sive, royalty-bearing licenses with the right to grant sublicenses
under two Georgetown patents, as well as corresponding for-
eign patents and patent applications. Under the Georgetown
Agreement, we made an initial payment of $3.75 million in
July 2005, and we will make a second payment to Georgetown
no later than October 15, 2005. We recorded a pre-tax charge
of $7.5 million in settlement expense in our fiscal 2005 fourth
quarter results. Digene will also pay Georgetown royalties on
future net sales of products covered by the license grants. Our
obligation to make royalty payments on one of the patents will
end on October 15, 2008 and for the other patent on July 1,
2014, unless earlier terminated in accordance with the terms of
the Georgetown Agreement.

In August 2004, we established a leasing facility with ePlus
Group, Inc. with a total commitment of $1,000,000. We intend
to use such facility to fund the lease of computer hardware
and associated software. As of June 30, 2005, we have used
approximately $561,000 of such commitment.

On April 29, 2001, we entered into a letter agreement with
Roche Molecular Systems (the Roche Distribution Contract),
which established Roche Molecular Systems (Roche) as the co-
exclusive distributor of our HPV products in Europe, Africa and
the Middle East from May 1, 2001 through June 30, 2002. In
June 2002, we adopted as our sole strategy for the distribution
of our HPV products in Europe, Africa and the Middle East, a
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combination of direct distribution through our European infra-
structure and the use of local distributors and agents.

On June 30, 2002, the term of the Roche Distribution
Contract expired, subject to a non-exclusive wind-down
period. Under the Roche Distribution Contract, we had the
option, exercisable within 30 days after December 31, 2002,
to buy back from Roche equipment purchased from us by
Roche and in use for HPV testing in customer's laboratories on
June 30, 2002. In June 2002, as part of our strategic decision,
we decided that we would exercise the option to repurchase
the equipment.

In recognition of the decision to repurchase the equip-
ment, commencing in the fourth quarter of 2002, we deferred
recognition of equipment sold to Roche. Equipment sold dur-
ing this time period had a sales price of $2.3 million and a cost
of $1.4 million, which amounts were recorded as deferred
revenue and deferred costs, respectively. The deferred reve-
nue and deferred costs were being amortized over a four-
year period to other revenue (as equipment rental) and selling
and marketing expenses, respectively. For fiscal 2002, we
recorded other revenue and selling and marketing expenses
of $109,000 and $67,000, respectively, related to the amorti-
zation of these balances. For fiscal 2003, we recorded other
revenue and selling and marketing expenses of $288,000 and
$177,000, respectively, related to the amortization of these
balances prior to the commencement of the repurchase. At
December 31, 2002, when amortization ceased, the remain-
ing deferred revenue and deferred cost balances were
$1,904,000 and $1,169,000, respectively, for a remaining net
credit as of December 31, 2002 of $734,000.

On December 20, 2002, we amended the Roche Distribution
Contract to terminate the wind-down period on December 31,
2002 and to establish the procedures for our repurchase from
Roche of HPV-related testing equipment purchased from us
by Roche under the Roche Distribution Contract. The repur-
chase price for the equipment in use for HPV testing in cus-
tomers’ laboratories is the equipments’ December 31, 2002
depreciated value, which is the net selling price less any
amounts Roche recorded as depreciation based on a straight-
line basis over a four-year period. The repurchase price for the
equipment in inventory is a discount from the transfer price
paid by Roche under the Roche Distribution Contract.

The parties consummated the HPV equipment repurchase
on January 6, 2003, subject to reconciliation. In January 2003
Digene and its affiliates paid Roche an aggregate of approxi-
mately $2.6 million for the HPV equipment in inventory and
in use at customers' laboratories in Europe. A portion of the
purchase price was paid by the issuance of a note payable due
to Roche, which was paid in one installment in January 2004,
and the remainder of the purchase price was paid in cash. A
final settlement for the repurchased assets was completed
with Roche in June 2003.
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The total consideration paid to Roche for the fixed assets
and inventory after reaching a final settlement was $2,488,000,
or $1,753,000 after consideration of the remaining net credit
of $734,000 mentioned above.

We are currently in negotiations with our landlord to
expand the manufacturing and research and development
space at our Gaithersburg facility. It is likely that we will exe-
cute an amendment to our existing lease which will extend
the term of the lease beyond our existing commitment and
require us to contribute financing to the expansion. Our
Gaithersburg facility is currently accounted for as an operat-
ing lease, and it is anticipated that under the terms of the
proposed lease amendment, we will be required to prospec-
tively account for the lease as a capital lease. If our lease does
convert to a capital lease, we will record the fair value of the
building on our balance sheet and also record the related
lease obligation as a liability. The financial statement impact
of this transaction has not yet been determined but is
expected to be material.

We anticipate that working capital requirements will
increase moderately for the foreseeable future due to the
investment necessary to expand our Gaithersburg facility, as
well as increasing accounts receivable as a result of expected
revenue growth. We have expended, and expect to continue
to expend in the future, substantial funds to complete our
planned product development efforts, expand our sales and
marketing activities and expand our manufacturing capabili-
ties. We expect that our existing capital resources will be
adequate to fund our operations through calendar 2006. Qur
future capital requirements and the adequacy of available

funds may change, however, based on numerous factors,
including our degree of success in commercializing our prod-
ucts; the effectiveness of our sales and marketing activities;
our progress in product development efforts and the magni-
tude and scope of such efforts; our success in increasing and
maintaining customer relationships; our ability to receive
additional regulatory approvals for our product offerings;
the cost and timing of expansion of our manufacturing capa-
bilities; the cost of filing, prosecuting, defending and
enforcing patent claims and other intellectual property
rights; and competitive market developments. To the extent
that our existing capital resources and funds generated from
operations are insufficient to meet current or planned oper-
ating requirements, we will be required to obtain additional
funds through equity or debt financing, which could include
public offerings of our securities using our effective shelf
registration statement, strategic alfliances with corporate
partners and others, or through other sources. Other than
our equipment leasing facility with ePlus Group, Inc., we do
not have any committed sources of additional financing, and
there can be no assurance that additional funding, if neces-
sary, will be available on acceptable terms, if at all. If adequate
funds are not available, we may be required to delay, scale
back or eliminate certain aspects of our operations or attempt
to obtain funds through arrangements with collaborative
partners or others that may require us to relinquish rights to
certain of our technologies, product candidates, products or
potential markets. Under such conditions, our business,
financial condition and results of operations would be mate-
rially adversely affected.

We have summarized below our material contractual obligations as of June 30, 2005:

Less than One to Four to After
One Year Three Years Five Years Five Years
Contractua! Obligations Total (Fiscal 2006) (Fiscal 2007-2009) (Fiscal 2010-2011) (After Fiscal 2012)
Long-term debt $ 687,660 $ 116,036 $ 356,827 $ 214,797 $ —
Physician detailing
agreement 342,246 342,246 — — —
Operating leases 15,205,226 3,566,728 9,850,185 1,748,749 39,564
Minimum royalty
payments® 15,454,377 1,454,377 10,500,000 3,500,000 —_
Total contractual
cash obligations $31,689,509 $5,479,387 $20,707,012 $5,463,546 $39,564

(e

minimum royalty payments.

On October 14, 2004, we paid Enzo $16 million under the terms of the Agreement with Enzo. Of the $16 million payment, $2 million is being used to offset future




Critical Accounting Policies and the Use of Estimates
We prepare our financial statements in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.
Such accounting principles require that our management
make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts
reported in our financial statements and accompanying notes.
QOur actual results could differ materially from those esti-
mates. The items in our consolidated financial statements
that have required us to make significant estimates and judg-
ments are as follows:

s Inventory. Our inventories are stated at the lower of
cost or market. Cost is determined using a weighted-
average approach, which approximates the first-in first-
out method of inventory management. We also record
provisions for inventaries which may not be salable due
to anticipated trends in sales volume and/or pricing and
our estimates of net realizable value. These provisions
are determined based on significant estimates.

e Revenue recognition. We recognize revenue from
product sales when there is persuasive evidence that an
arrangement exists, delivery has occurred, the price is
fixed and determinable, and collectibility is reasonably
assured. We establish allowances for estimated uncol-
tectible amounts, product returns and discounts based
on historical default rates and specifically identified
problem accounts. Additionally, we defer approximately
two percent of product sales as a reserve for future
warranty costs.

e Accounting for employee stock options. We account
for our employee stock-based compensation in accor-
dance with the provisions of APB No. 25, and related
interpretations, which allow us to recognize compen-
sation costs for the excess of the fair value of the stock
at the grant date over the exercise price, if any. An
alternative method of accounting would apply the
principles of SFAS No. 123, which require the fair
value of the stock option to be recognized at the
date of grant and amortized to compensation expense
over the stock option’s vesting period. Had we applied
the principles of SFAS No. 123 for our employee
options, our net loss would have been approximately
$17,381,000 and $27,519,000 during our fiscal years
ended June 30, 2003 and 2005, respectively, and our
net income would have been approximately
$15,080,000 during our fiscal year ended June 30,
2004, instead of our reported net loss which approxi-
mated $4,324,000 and $8,167,000 during our fiscal
years ended June 30, 2003 and 2005, respectively, and
our reported net income of approximately $21,542,000
during our fiscal year ended June 30, 2004.
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e Income taxes. We provide for income taxes in accor-
dance with the liability method. Under this method,
deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based
on differences between financial reporting and tax basis
of assets and liabilities and are measured using the
enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when
the differences are expected to reverse. We recognized
an income tax benefit of $14,325,000 for the year ended
June 30, 2004, primarily related to the reversal of a por-
tion of the valuation allowance previously established
for our deferred tax asset. Realization of total deferred
tax assets is contingent upon the generation of future
taxable income. Due to the uncertainty of realization
of these tax benefits, in fiscal 2004 and 2005 we have
provided a valuation allowance against the US. net
operating loss carryforwards and research tax credits
related to the exercise of stock options as well as other
U.S. net operating loss carryforwards and tax credits
expected to expire unused. We have also provided a val-
uation allowance against foreign net operating loss
carryforwards expected to expire unused. We review
our deferred tax asset on a quarterly basis to determine
if a valuation allowance is required, primarily based on
recent historical financial trends and our estimates of
future taxable income. Changes in our assessment of the
need for a valuation allowance could give rise to a valu-
ation allowance and an expense in the period of change.
A significant portion of the remaining deferred tax asset
valuation allowance, if released, will be reflected as a
direct increase to stockholders’ equity and will not impact
the consolidated statement of operations, The remaining
valuation allowance, if released, will be reflected as an
increase to book income and will impact the consoli-
dated statement of operations.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures

About Market Risk

We are subject to market risk associated with changes in foreign
currency exchange rates and interest rates. Our exchange rate
risk comes from our operations in Europe and South America.
The net impact of foreign exchange activities on earnings was
immaterial for the years ended June 30, 2003, 2004 and 2005.
Interest rate exposure is primarily limited to the $46.1 million of
cash, cash equivalents and short- and long-term investments
owned by us as of June 30, 2005. Such investments are money
market debt securities that generate interest income for us on
cash balances. We do not actively manage the risk of interest rate
fluctuations; however, such risk is mitigated by the relatively short
term nature of our investments. We do not consider the present
rate of inflation to have a significant impact on our business.
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Consolidated Balance Sheets

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments
Accounts receivable, tess allowance of approximately $600,000
and $288,000 at June 30, 2004 and 2005, respectively
Inventories, net
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Deferred tax asset, current
Total current assets

Property and equipment, net
Deposits and other assets
Deferred tax asset, net

Total assets

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable

Accrued expenses

Accrued payroll

Current portion of long-term debt
Total current liabilities

Deferred rent
Long-term debt, less current portion

Minority interest
Stockholders’ equity:

Preferred Stock, $0.10 par value, 1,000,000 shares authorized,
no shares issued and outstanding

Common Stock, $0.01 par value, 50,000,000 shares authorized, 19,883,918
and 20,037,253 shares issued and outstanding at June 30, 2004 and 2005, respectively

Additional paid-in capital
Deferred stock compensation
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Accumulated deficit

Total stockholders’ equity

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

See accompanying notes.

June 30,
2004 2005
$ 4,079,519 $ 15,789,473
44,653,599 30,292,421
17,545,133 20,296,303
8,109,987 7,197,388
2,392,048 3,129,382
1,047,766 2,037,718
77,828,052 78,742,685
9,561,794 10,104,045
2,150,486 2,237,462
13,729,916 15,761,238

$103,270,248

$106,845,430

$ 5,423,628 $ 7,807,316
3,771,141 11,996,460
5,387,129 5,835,295
1,459,890 116,036

16,041,788 25,755,107
479,078 763,112
685,940 571,624

- 353,033

198,839 200,373
139,637,245 140,914,008
(164,031) —
537,688 601,342
(54,146,299) (62,313,169)
86,063,442 79,402,554

$103,270,248

$106,845,430




Consolidated Statements of Operations

Revenues:
Product sales
Other

Total revenues

Costs and expenses:
Cost of product sales
Royalty and technology
Research and development
Selling and marketing
General and administrative
Patent litigation settlements

Total costs and expenses

Income (loss) from operations
Other income (expense):
Interest income
Interest expense
Other income (expense)
Total other income (expense)
income (loss) from operations before minority interest and income taxes
Minority Interest
income (loss) from operations before income taxes
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes

Net income (loss)

Basic net income (loss) per share
Diluted net income (loss) per share

Weighted average shares outstanding
Basic

Diluted

See accompanying notes.

Year Ended June 30,
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2003 2004 2005
$62,440,415 $ 88,815,293 $113,218,813
661,481 1,345,275 1,922,790
63,101,896 90,160,568 115,141,603
13,383,086 16,716,387 20,127,590
2,813,556 1,704,837 5,393,343
10,262,138 10,743,763 12,963,915
25,099,168 34,918,406 45,932,993
16,642,100 19,297,782 20,265,277
— — 21,500,000
68,200,048 83,381,175 126,183,118
(5,098,152) 6,779,393 (11,041,515)
593,331 459,170 807,576
(272,810) (183,945) (37,105)
677,585 162,463 (116,468)
998,106 437,688 654,003
(4,100,046) 7,217,081 (10,387,512)
— — (353,033)
(4,100,046) 7,217,081 (10,740,545)
223,465 (14,324,947) (2,573,675)
$ (4,323,511) $ 21,542,028 $ (8,166,870)
$ (0.24) $ 1.13 $ (0.41)
$ (0.24) $ 1.04 $ (0.41)
18,135,689 19,144,021 19,964,800
18,135,689 20,806,078 19,964,800
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Consclidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity

Balance at June 30, 2002

Comprehensive loss:
Foreign currency translation
Net loss
Comprehensive loss
Exercise of Common
Stock options
Issuance of Common
Stock to Roche
Issuance of Common Stock
options to non-employees
Compensatory stock options
earned by non-employees
Balance at June 30, 2003

Comprehensive income:
Foreign currency translation,
net of income tax expense
of $173,979
Unrealized loss on available
for-sale securities, net of
income tax benefit of $53,130
Net income
Comprehensive income
Exercise of Common Stock options
Compensatory stock options
earned by non-employees
Balance at June 30, 2004

Comprehensive loss:
Foreign currency translation
Unrealized gain on available
for-sale securities, net of
income tax benefit of $33,402
Net loss
Comprehensive loss
Exercise of Common
Stock options
Compensatory stock options
earned by non-employees
Balance at June 30, 2005

See accompanying notes.

Accumulated

Additional Deferred Other Total
Common Stock Paid-in Stock Comprehensive Accumulated Stockholders’
Shares Amount Capital Compensation  Income Deficit Equity

17,972,728 $179,727 $110,856,010 $ (32,137) $ — $(71,364,816) $39,638,784
— — — — 356,415 — 356,415
— — — — — (4,323,511) (4,323,511)
(3,967,096)

209,623 2,096 2,079,691 — — — 2,081,787
142,857 1,429 4,998,571 — — — 5,000,000
— — 601,000 (601,000) — —_ —

— — — 252,504 — —_ 252,504
18,325,208 $183,252 $118,535,272 $(380,633) $356,415 $(75,688,327) $43,005,979
— — — — 260,968 — 260,968
— — — — (79,695) — (79,695)

— — — — — 21,542,028 21,542,028
21,723,301

1,558,710 15,587 20,882,723 — — —_ 20,898,310
—_ — 219,250 216,602 — — 435,852
19,883,918 $198,839 $139,637,245 $(164,031) $537,688 $(54,146,299) $86,063,442
—_ — — - 36,291 — 36,291

— — — — 27,363 — 27,363
— — — -— — (8,166,870) (8,166,870)
(8,103,216)

153,335 1,534 1,530,013 — — — 1,531,547
— — (253,250) 164,031 — — (89,219)
20,037,253 $200,373 $140,914,008 $ — $601,342 $(62,313,169) $79,402,554




Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income (loss)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash
provided by {used in) operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment
Amortization of discount on note payable
Loss on disposal of fixed assets
Compensation expense related to stock options
Deferred tax benefit
Minority interest
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Deposits and other assets
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Accrued payroll
Deferred rent
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchases of short-term investments

Sales and maturities of short-term investments
Capital expenditures

Net cash used in investing activities

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Exercise of Common Stock options
Principal payments of long-term debt
Net cash provided by financing activities

Effect of currency translations

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Interest paid

Income taxes paid

See accompanying notes.

Year Ended June 30,

A il

2003 2004 2005

$ (4,323,511) $ 21,542,028 $ (8,166,870)
3,293,454 3,914,062 4,490,281
— 35,603 —

22,925 178,036 259,454
252,504 435,852 (89,219)
— (14,898,531) (2,867,024)

— — 353,033
(1,343,013) (7,200,536) (2,681,183)
259,177 (1,036,067) 1,009,253
6,039 (202,823) (781,609)
(233,725) (190,305) (88,730)
993,294 (2,066,072) 2,173,658
(2,161,077) 303,512 8,203,996
1,317,891 1,204,802 464,329
81,832 44,170 284,034
(1,834,210) 2,063,731 2,563,403

(29,940,689)

(52,712,116)

(23,899,798)

33,671,809 34,334,686 38,308,066
(3,763,786) (6,138,788) (5,218,110)
(32,666) (24,516,218) 9,190,158
2,081,787 20,898,310 1,531,547
(1,428,492) (2,684,380) (1,458,172)
653,295 18,213,930 73,375
(356,415) 434,947 (116,982)
(1,569,996) (3,803,610 11,709,954
9,453,125 7,883,129 4,079,519

$ 7.883,129 $ 4,079,519 $ 15,789,473
$ 374,000 $ 163,000 $ 46,000
$ 149,000 $ 345,000 $ 202,000
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Notes tc Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Organization and Nature of Operations

Digene Corporation (the “Company” or “Digene”) was incorpo-
rated as a Delaware corporation in 1987. The Company devel-
ops, manufactures and markets its proprietary gene-based
testing systems for the screening, monitoring and diagnosis of
human diseases. The Company has applied its proprietary Hybrid
Capture® technology to develop a diagnostic test for human
papillomavirus (“HPV”), which is the primary cause of cervical
cancer and is found in greater than 99% of all cervical cancer
cases. Digene’s product portfolio also includes gene-based tests
for the detection of chlamydia, gonorrhea, hepatitis B virus
("HBV"), and cytomegalovirus (“CMV").

On June 28, 1996, the Company entered into a joint ven-
ture agreement with a Brazilian national to establish Digene
do Brasil LTDA, a majority-owned subsidiary of the Company.

On April 26, 2002, the Company established a wholly-
owned subsidiary, Digene UK (Holdings) Limited, as a holding
company for most of its European subsidiaries. Digene UK
(Holdings) Limited owns all the outstanding shares of Digene
(UK) Limited, Digene Deutschland GmbH, Digene (France)
SAS and Digene ltalia s.r.l.,, which were organized in April,
May, August and October 2002, respectively, and of Digene
Diagnostics S.L. (Spain), which was organized in June of 2003.
InJuly 2002, the Company also organized Digene (Switzerland)
Sarl, all of the outstanding shares of which are owned by
Digene. Through these newly formed entities and the use of
local distributors and agents, Digene markets and distributes
the Company’s. products throughout Europe.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include
the accounts of Digene and its subsidiaries. All significant
intercompany accounts and transactions have been elimi-
nated in consolidation.

USE OF ESTIMATES

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts in the consoli-
dated financial statements. These estimates include assessing
the collectibility of accounts receivable and valuation of inven-
tories and long-lived assets and the provision for warranty
obligations. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

FOREIGN CURRENCIES

The local currency is the functional currency for most of the
Company's international subsidiaries and, as such, assets and
liabilities are translated into U.S. dollars at year-end
exchange rates. Income and expense items are transiated at
average exchange rates during the year. Translation adjust-
ments resulting from this process are charged or credited to
other comprehensive income (loss). Certain transaction
gains and losses on intercompany activity for which settle-
ment is not planned in the foreseeable future are included
as a separate component of stockholders’ equity in accumu-
lated other comprehensive income in the accompanying
balance sheets.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash equivalents, which are stated at cost, consist of highly
liguid investments with original maturities of three months
or less. Substantially a!l cash equivalents are held in short-
term money market accounts with large highly rated finan-
cial institutions.

SHORT-TERM INVESTMENTS

Short-term investments consist of corporate and various
government agency debt securities, most of which mature in
approximately one year or less. For investments with
maturities over one year, management has the intent and
ability to sell these securities for working capital purposes
should the need arise. Management classifies the Company’s
short-term investments as available-for-sale. Such securities
are stated at market value, with any material unrealized
holding gains or losses reported, net of any tax effects, as
accumulated other comprehensive income, which is a
separate component of stockholders’ equity. Realized gains
and losses and declines in value judged to be other than
temporary, if any, are included in results of operations. A
decline in the market value of any available-for-sale security
below cost that is deemed to be other than temporary results
in a reduction in fair value, which is charged to earnings and
a new cost basis for the security is established. Premiums and
discounts are amortized or accreted over the life of the
related available-for-sale security. Dividend and interest
income are recognized as interest income when earned. The
cost of securities sold is calculated using the specific
identification method. The Company places all investments
in highly rated financial institutions.




TRADE RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables are reported in the Consolidated Balance
Sheets at outstanding principal less any charge offs and the
allowance for doubtful accounts. The Company charges off
uncollectible receivables against the allowance for doubtful
accounts when the likelihood of collection is remote.
Generally, the Company considers receivables past due 30
days subsequent to the billing date; however, the Company
may extend credit terms up to 180 days. The Company per-
forms ongoing credit evaluations of its customers and gen-
erally extends credit without requiring collateral. The
Company maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts,
which is determined based on historical experience, existing
economic conditions and management’s expectations of
losses. Losses have historically been minimal and within
management’s expectations. As of June 30, 2004 and 2005,
the Company had an allowance for doubtful accounts of
approximately $600,000 and $288,000, respectively.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Company operates one business segment that develops,
manufactures and markets proprietary gene-based tests for
the detection, screening and monitoring of human diseases.
Revenue by geographic location is presented in Note 10.

CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISK

AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company
to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash, cash
equivalents and short-term investments. The Company limits
its exposure to credit loss by placing its cash and cash equiva-
lents with high credit quality financial institutions and its
short-term investments consist of U.S. government agency
and high-grade corporate debt securities. Management
believes that the financial risks associated with its cash and
cash equivalents and short-term investments are minimal.

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The fair value of the Company’s accounts receivable,
accounts payable and accrued expenses approximate their
carrying amount due to the relatively short maturity of
these items. The fair value of debt approximates its carry-
ing amount as of June 30, 2004 and 2005 based on rates
currently available to the Company for debt with similar
terms and maturities.

SIGNIFICANT SUPPLIERS

Several key components of the Company’s products come from,
or are manufactured for the Company by, a single supplier or a
limited number of suppliers. This applies in particular to three
components: chemiluminescent substrates (used to create a
chemical reaction that generates light in connection with the
Hybrid Capture signal amplified molecular technology), the
Rapid Capture System that serves as the automation platform
developed for large-scale diagnostic testing using the Hybrid
Capture technology, and the 96-well microplate used by labo-
ratories to run the Company’s diagnostic test products.

INVENTORIES

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market using
actual cost. The estimated reserve is based on management’s
review of inventories on hand compared to estimated future
usage and sales, shelf-life and assumptions about the likeli-
hood of obsolescence.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment, including leasehold improvements,
are stated at cost and depreciated or amortized using the
straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of three
to ten years. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the
lesser of the related lease term, including any lease term
extensions that the Company has the right and intention to
execute, or the useful life. Construction in-process relates to
the assets acquired to facilitate expansion of the Company'’s
Gaithersburg, Maryland facility. Repairs and maintenance
expenditures are charged to operations as incurred.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets, which are included in deposits and other
assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheets, arose from the
Company’s acquisition of Viropath B.V. in 1998. The excess of
the purchase price over the identifiable tangible net assets
acquired of approximately $1.5 million was amortized on a
straight-line basis over ten years until June 2002. Goodwill and
intangible assets deemed to have an indefinite useful life are
reviewed for impairment in the fourth quarter of each fiscal
year. The Company reviewed the value of the intangible assets
in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2004 and 2005 and did not
note any circumstances which would warrant an adjustment
to the recorded value. Accumulated amortization expense
approximated $600,000 as of June 30, 2004 and 2005.




IMPAIRMENT OF LONG-LIVED ASSETS

AND RECOVERABILITY OF INTANGIBLES

The Company periodically evaluates the recoverability of the
carrying value of its long-lived assets and identifiable intangi-
bles whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying value of the asset may not be recoverable.
Examples of events or changes in circumstances that indicate
that the recoverability of the carrying value of the assets should
be assessed include, but are not limited to, the following: a sig-
nificant decrease in the market value of an asset, a significant
change in the extent or manner in which an asset is used or a
significant physical change in an asset, a significant adverse
change in legal factors or in the business climate that could
affect the value of an asset or an adverse action or assessment
by a regulator, an accumulation of costs significantly in excess
of the amount originally expected to acquire or construct an
asset, and/or a current period operating or cash flow loss com-
bined with a history of operating or cash flow losses or a pro-
jection or forecast that demonstrates continuing losses
associated with an asset used for the purpose of producing
revenue. The Company considers historical performance and
anticipated future results in its evaluation of potential impair-
ment. Accordingly, when indicators of impairment are present,
the Company would evaluate the carrying amount of these
assets in relation to the operating performance of the business
and estimated future undiscounted cash flows associated with
the asset. If a write-down is required, the Company would pre-
pare a discounted cash flow analysis to determine the amount
of the write-down. No such impairment losses have been rec-
ognized to date.

MINORITY INTEREST
Minority interest represents the Digene do Brasil LTDA minority
partner’s share of the equity and earnings of the subsidiary.

REVENUE RECOGNITION

The Company recognizes revenue in accordance with the pro-
visions of Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 104, “Revenue
Recognition in Financial Statements,” whereby revenue is not
recognized until it is realized or realizable and earned.
Revenue is recognized when all of the following criteria are
met: persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery
has occurred or services have been rendered, the price to the
buyer is fixed and determinable and collectibility is reason-
ably assured. Revenues from product sales are recognized
upon delivery, usually upon shipment. Allowances are estab-
lished for estimated uncollectible amounts, product returns
and discounts. In addition, the Company defers approximately
two percent of product sales as a reserve for future warranty
costs and recognizes this deferred revenue over one year,

which is the standard warranty period for a majority of its sys-
tem components. At June 30, 2004 and 2005, this warranty
reserve was approximately $897,000 and $1,137,000, respec-
tively, and, historically, the warranty costs have been within
management estimates.

Product sales include the sales associated with the delivery
ot the Company’s proprietary instrument platforms for per-
forming its diagnostic tests. In some cases, the Company has
provided its instrumentation to customers without requiring
them to purchase the equipment or enter into an equipment
lease or rental contract. In these cases, the Company recovers
the cost of providing the instrumentation in the amounts it
charges for its diagnostic assays, generally under purchase
and supply contracts with durations of three or more years.

Other revenue consists of research and development
contracts, equipment rental and the licensing of various
technologies. Research and development revenue is recorded
as earned based on the performance requirements of the
contract. Revenue associated with performance milestones
is recognized based upon the achievement of the milestones,
as defined in the respective agreements. Revenue under
research and development cost reimbursement contracts is
recognized as the related costs are incurred.

Advance payments received in excess of amounts earned
are classified as deferred revenue until earned.

COST OF PRODUCT SALES

Cost of product sales reflects the costs applicable to products
delivered for which product sales revenue is recognized in
accordance with the Company’s revenue recognition policy.
The Company follows Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards ("SFAS”) No. 2, “Accounting for Research and
Development Costs” in classifying costs between cost of prod-
uct sales and research and development costs.

SHIPPING COSTS

The Company’s shipping and handling costs, net of amounts
billed to customers, are included in cost of product sales and
totaled $1,227,998, $1,574,450, and $1,832,325 for the years
ended June 30, 2003, 2004, and 2005, respectively.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

The Company expenses its research and development costs as
incurred. Research and development costs include salaries and
related benefits, outside services, material and supplies and
alfocations of facility and support costs. The Company does not
track separately the costs applicable to collaborative research
revenue as there is not the distinction between the Company'’s
internal development activities and the development efforts
made pursuant to agreements with third parties.




SELLING AND MARKETING

In some cases, the Company has provided its instrumentation,
to which the Company retains title, to customers without
requiring them to purchase the equipment or enter into an
equipment lease or rental contract. The costs associated with
these instruments are capitalized and charged to selling and
marketing on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful
life of the instrument, which ranges from three to five years.
During the years ended June 30, 2003, 2004 and 2005, these
costs were $2,268,287, $2,615,841 and $2,828,998, respec-
tively. The costs to maintain these systems are charged to
operations as incurred.

ADVERTISING COSTS

The Company expenses advertising costs as incurred.
Advertising costs amounted to approximately $855,000,
$871,000 and $4,434,000 during the years ended June 30,
2003, 2004 and 2005, respectively.

INCOME TAXES

The Company provides for income taxes in accordance with
the liability method. Under this method, deferred tax assets
and liabilities are determined based on differences between
financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities and
are measured using the enacted tax rates and laws that will
be in effect when the differences are expected to reverse. A
valuation allowance is recorded against the deferred tax asset
when it is more likely than not that some or all of the deferred
tax asset will not be realized. A significant portion of the
remaining deferred tax asset valuation allowance, if released,
will be reflected as an increase to stockholders’ equity and
will not impact the Consolidated Statement of Operations.

NET INCOME (LOSS) PER SHARE

The Company computes net income (foss) per share in accor-
dance with SFAS No. 128, “Earnings Per Share,” and SEC
Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 98 ("SAB No0.98"). SFAS No.
128 requires the Company to present basic and diluted
income (loss) per share. The Company’s basic income (loss)
per share is calculated by dividing the net income (loss) by
the weighted average number of shares of Common Stock
outstanding during all periods presented. The Company's
diluted income (loss) per share is calculated by dividing net
income (loss) available to Common Stockholders by the
weighted average number of common shares outstanding
after giving effect to all dilutive potential common shares
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that were outstanding during the period. Potential common
shares are not included in the computation of diluted earnings
per share if they are antidilutive.

Under the provisions of SAB No. 98, common shares issued
for nominal consideration, if any, would be included in the
per share calculations as if they were outstanding for all peri-
ods presented. The Company considers common equivalent
shares from the exercise of stock options in the instance
where the shares are dilutive to net income of the Company
by application of the treasury stock method.

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

SFAS No. 130, “Reporting Comprehensive Income,” requires
the presentation of comprehensive income or loss and its
components as part of the consolidated financial statements.
The Company’'s comprehensive income (loss) includes net
income (loss) as well as additional other comprehensive net
income (loss). For the years ended June 30, 2003, 2004 and
2005 other comprehensive income (loss) included gains and
losses on intercompany transactions with foreign subsidiaries
considered long-term investments, translation gains and losses
incurred when converting its subsidiaries’ financial statements
from their functional currency to the U.S. dollar, and unreal-
ized holding gains and losses on available-for-sale investments.
The unrealized holding gains and losses on available-for-sale
investments are reflected net of tax.

STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION
The Company accounts for its stock-based compensation in
accordance with the provisions of Accounting Principles Board
Opinion No. 25 (“APB No. 25”) “Accounting for Stock issued to
Employees” and related interpretations. Accordingly, compen-
sation cost is recognized for the excess of the estimated fair
value of the stock at the grant date over the exercise price, if
any. Because the Company establishes the exercise price of
stock options based on the fair market value of the Company’s
Common Stock on the date of the grant, the stock options
have no intrinsic value and therefore no expense is recorded.
The Company accounts for equity instruments issued to
non-employees in accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force
96-18, “Accounting for Equity Instruments that are Issued to
Other Than Employees for Acquiring, or in Conjunction with
Selling, Goods, or Services.” Accordingly, the estimated fair
value of the equity instrument is recorded on the earlier of
the performance commitment date or the date the services
required are completed.
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In accordance with SFAS No. 148, " Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation—Transition and Disclosure” the effect on net
income (loss) and net income (loss) per share if the Company had applied the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123
" Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” to stock-based employee compensation is as follows:

Net income (loss), as reported

Add: Stock-based non-employee compensation expense
included in reported net income (loss), net of taxes

Deduct: Stock-based employee compensation expense if SFAS
No. 123 had been applied to all grants

Pro forma net income (loss)

Net income (loss) per share

Basic—as reported

Basic—pro forma

Diluted—as reported

Diluted—pro forma

Pro forma information regarding net income and loss
per share is required by SFAS No. 123 and has been deter-
mined as if the Company had accounted for its employee
stock options under the fair value method. The fair value
of each option grant is estimated on the date of grant
using the Black-Scholes option-pricing fair value model
through June 30, 2004 and a trinomial lattice option-pricing
fair value model thereafter. The following weighted-average
assumptions were used:

Year Ended June 30,

2003 2004 2005
Dividend yield 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
Expected volatility 80% 78% 76%
Risk-free interest rate 2.8% 3.7% 4.0%
Expected life of the
option term (in years) 6.3 5.9 5.4

On March 7, 2005, the Compensation Committee (the
Committee) of the Company’s Board of Directors approved
the acceleration of vesting of “underwater” unvested stock
options held by certain current employees, including executive
officers. The Committee and the independent members of the
Company's Board of Directors imposed restrictions on the stock
option awards granted to executive officers of the Company,
which restrict the ability of each such executive officer to sell
any shares underlying any such stock option award until the

Year Ended June 30,

2003 2004 2005
$ (4,323,511) $21,542,028 $ (8,166,870)

252,504 435,852 (54,459)
(13,310,256) (6,897,933) (19,298,093)
$(17,381,263) $15,079,947 $(27,519,422)
$ (0.24) $ 1.13 $ (0.41)
$ (0.96) $ 0.79 $ (1.38)
$ (0.24) $ 1.04 $ (0.41)
$ (0.96) $ 0.73 $ (1.38)

earlier of (1) the original vesting date applicable to such shares
(or any portion thereof) underlying such stock option award or
(2) the executive officer’s termination of employment with the
Company, death or disability. Stock options held by non-
employee directors were not included in such acceleration. A
stock option was considered “underwater” if the option exer-
cise price was greater than or equal to $32.35 per share. As
such, the Company fully vested options to purchase 622,202
shares of the Company’s Common Stock. The Company took
this action primarily to avoid recognizing compensation cost in
future financial statements when SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004)
("SFAS No. 123(R)"”) becomes effective, which will be the first
quarter of the Company’s 2006 fiscal year.

For pro forma disclosure requirements set forth above under
SFAS No. 123, during the period ended June 30, 2005, the
Company recognized $8.5 million of additional stock-based
compensation for all options for which vesting was accelerated.

The effect of applying SFAS No. 123 on a pro forma net
loss as stated above is not likely to be representative of the
effect on reported net loss for future years due to, among
other things, the vesting period of the stock options and the
fair value of additional options to be granted in future years.
In addition, option valuation models require the input of
highly subjective assumptions, and changes in such subjective
assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimate of
employee stock options.




RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOQUNCEMENTS

On December 16, 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards
Board (“FASB”) issued SFAS No. 123(R), “Share-Based
Payment,” which is a revision of SFAS No. 123. SFAS No. 123(R)
supersedes Accounting Pronouncement Bulletin No. 25, and
amends SFAS No. 95, "Statement of Cash Flows.” Generally,
the approach in SFAS No. 123(R) is similar to the approach
described in SFAS No. 123. However, SFAS No. 123(R) requires
all share-based payments to employees, including grants of
employee stock options, to be recognized in the statement of
operations based on their fair values. Pro forma disclosure is
no longer an alternative. The Company is required to adopt
SFAS No. 123(R) on July 1, 2005.

As permitted by SFAS No. 123, the Company currently
accounts for share-based payments to employees using APB
No. 25 intrinsic value method and, as such, generally recog-
nizes no compensation cost for employee stock options.
Accordingly, the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R)'s fair value
method will have a significant impact on the Company's state-
ments of operations, although it will have no impact on the
Company'’s overall financial position. The impact of adoption
of SFAS No. 123(R) cannot be predicted at this time because it
will depend on levels of share-based payments granted in the
future. However had the Company adopted SFAS No. 123(R)
in prior periods, the impact of that standard would have
approximated the impact of SFAS No. 123 as described above
in the disclosure of pro forma net income (loss) and earnings
per share. SFAS No. 123(R) also requires the benefits of tax
deductions in excess of recognized compensation cost to be
reported as a financing cash flow, rather than as an operating
cash flow as required under current literature. The require-
ment will reduce net operating cash flows and increase net
financing cash flows in periods after adoption.

In December 2004 the FASB also issued SFAS No. 151,
“lnventory Costs.” SFAS No. 151 requires abnormal amounts
of inventory costs related to idle facility, freight handling
and wasted material expenses to be recognized as current
period charges. Additionally, SFAS No. 151 requires that allo-
cation of fixed production overheads to the costs of conver-
sion be based on the normal capacity of the production
facilities. The standard is effective for fiscal years beginning
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after June 15, 2005. The Company believes the adoption of
SFAS No. 151 will not have a material impact on its consoli-
dated financial statements.

RECLASSIFICATIONS
Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform
to current year presentation.

3. Other Balance Sheet Information
The following tables provide details of selected balance
sheet items:

INVENTORIES
June 30,
2004 2005
Finished goods $ 5,516,411 $ 4,642,294
Work in process 3,668,683 3,343,499
Raw materials 1,207,415 1,187,021
10,392,509 9,172,814
Inventory reserve (2,282,522) (1,975,426)
$ 8,109,987 $ 7,197,388
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
June 30,
2004 2005

Furniture, fixtures and

office equipment $ 3,348,037 $ 4,375,526
Machinery and equipment 4,700,011 4,986,474
Customer-use assets 9,998,546 9,665,519
Construction in-process — 1,694,687
Leasehold improvements 2,005,455 2,798,999

20,052,049 23,521,205

Accumulated depreciation

and amortization (10,490,255) (13,417,160)

$ 9,561,794 $ 10,104,045

Customer-use assets represent the Company’s proprie-
tary instrument platforms placed at customer sites, to
which title and risk of loss is retained by the Company, for
the customers’ use in performing the diagnostic tests sold
by the Company.
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SHORT-TERM INVESTMENTS

June 30, 2005

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Estimated
AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
U.S. Treasury and agencies $22,190,931 $1,287 $(51,894) $22,140,324
Corporate debt securities 8,187,225 — (35,128) 8,152,097
Total Short-term investments $30,378,156 $1,287 $(87,022) $30,292,421

June 30, 2004

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Estimated
AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
U.S. Treasury and agencies $34,162,108 $658 $ (86,409) $34,076,357
Corporate debt securities 10,624,316 — (47,074) 10,577,242
Total Short-term investments $44,786,424 $658 $(133,483) $44,653,599

SFAS No. 115, “Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt
and Equity Securities,” requires that available-for-sale securi-
ties be recorded at market value. The Company’s Short-term
investments are recorded in the Consolidated Balance Sheets
at fair value.

The following table summarizes the maturities of the
Company'’s Short-term investments at June 30, 2005:

Amortized Estimated
MATURITY Cost Fair Value
Less than one year $25,086,923 $25,003,003
Due in one to two years 5,291,233 5,289,418
$30,378,156 $30,292,421

The Company'’s gross proceeds from the sale of Short-term
investments and the resulting realized gains and realized
losses that have been included in its Consolidated Statement
of Operations are as follows:

Year Ended June 30,

2003 2004 2005
Gross proceeds  $5,410,773  $89,827,194  $30,511,560
Realized gains 640 — 2,786
Realized losses (32) (19) (123)
ACCOUNTS PAYABLE
June 30,
2004 2005
Trade payables $4,261,514 $5,934,351
Other 1,162,114 1,872,965
$5,423,628 $7,807,316
ACCRUED EXPENSES
June 30,
2004 2005
Accrued expenses $3,771,141 $ 4,496,460
Georgetown settlement — 7,500,000
$3,771,141 $11,996,460

4. Llong-term Debt

The Company has an equipment loan facility of $1,000,000
from the State of Maryland to finance a portion of the costs
of equipment installed at the Company's facility
Gaithersburg, Maryland. The repayment of this loan is secured
by a lien on property and equipment purchased using the
proceeds from the loan facility. The loan bears interest at 1%
per annum and the Company began making quarterly princi-
pal and interest payments in October 2002, with all unpaid
principal and interest due by December 31, 2009.

In June 2002, in conjunction with the termination of
Abbott Laboratories’ rights to distribute the Company's HPV
and chlamydia and gonorrhea products under a prior distri-
bution agreement, the Company repurchased equipment it
sold to Abbott Laboratories (“Abbott”). In order to satisfy this
obligation, the Company issued a promissory note to Abbott
for $4,033,904. The note bore interest at 7% per annum and
the Company made quarterly installment payments of
$336,159 which commenced on July 1, 2002. The Company
paid off the note in its entirety on September 29, 2004.

In January 2003, as part of the repurchase of certain equip-
ment from Roche Molecular Systems, Inc. (“Roche”) under the
Roche Distribution Contract as discussed in Note 7, the
Company issued a promissory note to Roche with a principal
amount of $1,225,663 which was paid in its entirety on
January 6, 2004. There was no stated interest rate for this
note and, accordingly, the Company imputed interest at its
current borrowing rate and recorded a discount on this note

in

payable, which was amortized to interest expense over the
term of the note.




At June 30, 2005, future minimum principal payments on
all long-term debt obligations are as follows:

Fiscal 2006 $116,036
2007 118,007

2008 118,800

2009 120,020

2010 214,797
Thereafter —_
$687,660

5. Income Taxes
Significant components of the provision for (benefit from) income
taxes attributable to operations consist of the following:

Year Ended June 30,

2003 2004 2005
Current:
Federal $ — 3 — 3 —
State — 397,780 —
Foreign 223,465 175,804 360,520
Total current 223,465 573,584 360,520
Deferred:
Federal — (12,832,429)  (2,636,522)
State — (2,066,102) (297,673)
Foreign — — —
Total deferred — (14,898,531)  (2,934,195)
Total provision
for (benefit from)
income taxes $223,465  $(14,324,947) $(2,573,675)

The Company recognized an income tax benefit of
$14,324,947 and $2,573,675 for the year ended June 30, 2004
and 2005, respectively. For the year ended June 30, 2004, the
Company revised its estimate of the valuation allowance pre-
viously established for the Company’s deferred tax asset,
resulting in a $14,898,531 income tax benefit. For the year
ended June 30, 2005, the Company recognized an additional
$2,934,195 income tax benefit for current year created U.S.
net operating losses, other than net operating losses related
to the exercise of stock options, and other deferred tax adjust-
ments that are not subject to a valuation allowance.

Income tax expense related to earnings of consolidated
subsidiaries located outside of the United States is provided
at tax rates of the respective country in which the subsidiar-
ies are located. The Company has not recorded deferred
income taxes on the undistributed earnings of its foreign
subsidiaries because the Company intends to indefinitely
reinvest such earnings.
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The components of income (loss) from operations before
income taxes are as follows:
Year Ended June 30,

2003 2004 2005
United States $5,635918  $ 21,545,679 % (7,414,728)
Foreign (9,735,964)  (14,328,598) (3.325,817)
$(4,100,046) $ 7,217,081  $(10,740,545)

Items which caused recorded income taxes attributable to
continuing operations to differ from taxes computed using
the statutory federal income tax rate are as follows:
Year Ended June 30,

2004

2003 2005

Tax (benefit)
expense at
statutory rates

Effect of:

State income
tax, net
Foreign tax
Stock options
Tax rate
adjustments — —
Net operating

$(1,394,000) $ 2,472,152  $(3,759,190)

129,000 685,712 (193,832)
223,465 175,804 (278,996)
(708,000) — —

(1,831,081)

losses and

tax credits — — 791,872

Permanent
and other
differences

Change in

(466,000) 571,176 750,782

valuation

allowance 2,439,000 (18,229,791) 1,946,770

Provision for
(benefit from)

income taxes $ 223,465 $(14,324,947) $(2,573,675)

For the year ended June 30, 2004, the change in the valua-
tion allowance includes the partial reversal of the deferred
tax valuation allowance of $14,898,531 discussed below. For
the year ended June 30, 2005, the Company recognized a
$4,282,991 foreign pre-tax loss from its European operations
that did not generate an income tax benefit due to full valua-
tion allowances booked against foreign deferred tax assets.
The fiscal 2005 tax rate adjustment reflects increases, as com-
pared to fiscal 2004, in U.S. federal income tax rate from 34%
to 35% and in U.S. state gross income tax rate from 6% to
6.75%. Fiscal 2005 net operating losses and tax credits reflect
impact of expired net operating losses and research tax cred-
its and new research tax credits
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The Company’s net deferred tax assets are as follows:

june 30,
2004 2005

Net operating

loss carryforwards $ 43,977,001 $ 51,941,410
Research and

development credits 2,808,099 3,048,306
Fixed assets and intangibles 611,859 899,577
Reserves 1,593,161 1,359,687
Patent litigation settlement — 2,954,063
Alternative minimum tax credit 41,920 41,920
Other 2,389,122 2,422,471
Deferred tax assets 51,421,162 62,667,434
Valuation allowance (36,643,480) (44,868,478)

$14,777,682 $ 17,798,956

At June 30, 2005, the Company had U.S. tax net operating
loss carryforwards for income tax purposes of $113,394,297.
For june 30, 2005, the Company had $92,719,891 of the net
operating loss carryforwards attributable to exercised stock
options, the benefit of which, if realized, will increase addi-
tional paid-in capital. At June 30, 2005 the Company had for-
eign tax net operating loss carryforwards for income tax
purposes of $22,181,359. At June 30, 2005, the Company also
had U.S. research tax credit carryforwards of $3,048,306. The
Company's U.S. net operating loss carryforwards and research
tax credits expire, if unused, in various years from fiscal 2006
through 2025. Depending on the applicable foreign tax juris-
diction, the Company’s foreign net operating loss carryfor-
wards expire in certain jurisdictions, if unused, in various years
starting in 2011; in several foreign tax jurisdictions the
Company's foreign net operating losses can be carried for-
ward indefinitely under current tax law.

Realization of total deferred tax assets is contingent upon
the generation of future taxable income. Prior to fiscal 2004,
the Company had experienced significant operating losses
and operated in an industry subject to rapid technotogical
change. Therefare, the Company’s entire deferred tax assets
were fully reserved with a valuation allowance prior to fiscal
2004. For the year ended June 30, 2004, the Company revised
its estimate of the valuation allowance previously established
forthe Company’s deferred tax asset, resultingina $14,898,531
income tax benefit. For the year ended June 30, 2005, the
Company recognized an additional $2,934,195 income tax

benefit for current year created U.S. net operating losses,
other than net operating losses related to the exercise of
stock options, and other deferred tax adjustments that are
not subject to a valuation allowance. Due to the uncertainty
of realization of certain tax benefits, the Company has
retained a portion of the valuation allowance for the net
operating loss carryforwards that are related to the exercise
of stock options as well as other U.S. net operating losses and
U.S. research tax credits that are expected to expire unused.
The Company has also retained a full valuation allowance for
its foreign net operating losses. A significant portion of the
remaining U.S. deferred tax asset valuation allowance, if
released, will be reflected as a direct increase to stockholders’
equity and will not impact the Consolidated Statement of
Operations. The remaining valuation allowance, if released,
will be reflected as an increase to book income and will impact
the Consolidated Statement of Operations.

The Company reviews its deferred tax asset on a quarterly
basis to determine if a valuation allowance is required, pri-
marily based on recent historical financial trends and esti-
mates of future taxable income. Changes in the Company’s
assessment of the need for a valuation allowance could give
rise to adjustments to the valuation allowance and an expense
in the period of change.

In 1991, the Company experienced a change in ownership as
defined under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code, which
caused the utilization of pre-change losses and credits to be lim-
ited. In fiscal 2005, all remaining 1991 pre-change losses and cred-
its expired unused. The timing and manner in which the Company
may utilize net operating loss carryforwards, U.S. research credit
carryforwards, and U.S. alternative minimum tax credit carry-
forwards in any year, or in total, may be limited by Section 382
should an ownership change be determined to have occurred.

6. Stockholders’ Equity

COMMON STOCK

Under the Roche Distribution Contract as discussed in Note 7,
Roche made a non-refundable payment of $5.0 million to the
Company in fiscal 2001, which was recorded as a deferred lia-
bility on the Consolidated Balance Sheet as of June 30, 2002.
On July 1, 2002, consistent with the provisions of the Roche
Distribution Contract, this payment was converted into
142,857 shares of Digene Common Stock at a conversion price
of $35 per share.
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The following table presents the calculation of basic and diluted net income (loss) per share:

Numerator:
Net income (loss)
Denominator:
Weighted average shares outstanding—Basic
Dilutive securities—stock options
Weighted average shares outstanding—Diluted
Basic net income (loss) per share
Diluted net income {loss) per share

For the period ended June 30, 2004, outstanding stock
options to purchase approximately 129,000 shares of Common
Stock were not included in the computation of diluted net
income per share because their effect would have been anti-
dilutive since the exercise prices of such stock options were
greater than the average share price of the Company’s stock
for the applicable period. None of the stock options outstand-
ing for the periods ended June 30, 2003 and 2005 were
included in the computation of diluted net loss per share
because the effect would have been antidilutive.

COMMON STOCK OPTIONS

In March 1996, the Company adopted the Digene Corporation
Omnibus Plan (the “Omnibus Plan”). Pursuant to the Omnibus
Plan, officers or other employees of the Company may receive
options to purchase Common Stock. The Omnibus Plan is
administered by the Compensation Committee. A maximum
of 2,000,000 shares have been authorized to cover grants and
awards under the Omnibus Plan.

In October 1996, the Company adopted the Digene
Corporation Directors’ Stock Option Plan (the “Directors’
Plan”). Pursuant to the Directors’ Plan, directors of the
Company may receive options to purchase Common Stock.
Additionally, immediately foliowing the Company’s Annual
Meeting of Stockholders, each non-employee director of the
Company automatically is granted an option to purchase
10,000 shares of Common Stock under the Directors’ Plan. The

Year Ended June 30,

2003 2004 2005
$ (4,323,511} $21,542,028 $ (8,166,870)
18,135,689 19,144,021 19,964,800
— 1,662,057 —
18,135,689 20,806,078 19,964,800
$ (0.24) $ 1.13 $ (0.41)
$ (0.24) $ 1.04 $ (0.41)

Directors’ Plan is administered by the Board of Directors. A
maximum of 500,000 shares have been authorized to cover
grants and awards under the Directors’ Plan.

In September 1997, the Company adopted the Digene
Corporation 1997 Stock Option Plan (the *1997 Stock Option
Plan”). Pursuant to the 1997 Stock Option Plan, consultants
and other non-employees of the Company may receive
aptions to purchase Common Stock. The 1997 Stock Option
Plan is administered by the Compensation Committee. A max-
imum of 500,000 shares have been authorized to cover grants
and awards under the 1997 Stock Option Plan.

In October 1999, the Company adopted the Digene 1999
Incentive Plan (the “1999 Plan”). Pursuant to the 1999 Plan,
employees of the Company and its subsidiaries may receive
options to purchase Common Stock and other Common Stock
awards. The 1999 Plan is administered by the Compensation
Committee. A maximum of 4,900,000 shares have been autho-
rized to cover grants and awards under the 1999 Plan.

As of June 30, 2005, 1,498,233 shares were available for
grant or award under the Omnibus Plan, the Directors’ Plan,
the 1997 Stock Option Plan and the 1999 Plan. Of these,
1,213,733 shares are available for grant or award to officers
and employees under the Omnibus Plan and the 1899 Plan.

The terms of all stock options granted may not exceed ten
years. The exercise price of options granted, as determined by
the Compensation Committee, approximates fair market
value of Common Stock at the time of the grant.
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Common Stock options activity is as follows:

Year Ended June 30,

2003 2004 2005
Weighted- Weighted- Weighted-
Average Average Average
Exercise Exercise Exercise
Shares Price Shares Price Shares Price
Outstanding at beginning of year 3,265,862 $20.62 4,051,013 $17.95 3,234,018 $23.74
Options granted 1,096,000 8.88 888,200 31.91 662,750 29.95
Options exercised (209,623) 9.93 (1,558,710) 13.41 (153,335) 9.99
Options canceled or expired (101,226) 22.64 (146,485) 23.12 (225,553) 28.44
QOutstanding at end of year 4,051,013 17.95 3,234,018 23.74 3,517,880 25.22
Options exercisable at year-end 2,119,687 16.90 1,322,233 25.00 2,607,335 27.35

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding at June 30, 2005:

Options Outstanding

Options Exercisable

Average Weighted- Weighted-
Remaining Average Average
Range of Number Contractual Exercise Number Exercise
Exercise Prices Outstanding Life Price Exercisable Price
$ 0.00-$10.00 688,806 6.4 $ 7.33 396,396 $ 7.55
$10.01-$20.00 339,108 5.9 14.61 203,178 13.61
$20.01-$30.00 845,683 7.4 26.30 398,578 26.01
$30.01-540.00 1,593,283 6.4 33.95 1,558,183 33.88
$40.01-$47.63 51,000 7.7 46.97 51,000 46.97
3,517,880 6.6 25.22 2,607,335 27.35
The weighted-average fair values of the options granted office and sales operations facilities in the United

during the years ended June 30, 2003, 2004 and 2005 were
$6.50, $15.94 and $17.81, respectively.

The Company issued 25,000 stock options to a non-
employee during the year ended June 30, 2003. These stock
options had a vesting period of 30 months. The fair value of
these stock options was recorded as deferred compensation
and was amortized over the performance period, Under vari-
able plan accounting, the value of the unvested stock options
was re-measured and recognized in operations at each report-
ing date until fully vested.

7. Commitments and Contingencies

LEASE COMMITMENTS

The Company leases a facility in Gaithersburg, Maryland,
comprising a total of approximately 111,000 square feet
for its corporate headquarters and manufacturing opera-
tions. The lease for the Gaithersburg facility has a ten-
year term and the Company has two options to extend the
term for a five-year period each. The Company also leases

Kingdom, Germany, Switzerland, France, Brazil, Italy and
Spain, which leases run in length from one year to eight
years. The Company also utilizes dedicated space in a
third-party warehouse facility in Germany to support its
European operations. Future minimum rental commit-
ments under these and other operating lease agreements,
including the agreements mentioned above, are as fol-
lows as of June 30, 2005:

2006 $ 3,566,728
2007 3,456,901
2008 3,227,884
2009 3,165,400
2010 1,630,055
Thereafter 158,258

$15,205,226

Rent expense under these leases was $3,174,602,
$3,448,493, and $4,040,397 for the years ended June 30, 2003,
2004 and 2005, respectively.




ROYALTY AND TECHNOLOGY EXPENSES

The Company’s access to various probes, diagnostic techniques
and a key product component were acquired under agree-
ments requiring the Company to pay future royalties on
future net sales on certain products. For the years ended
June 30, 2003, 2004 and 2005, total royalties amounted to
$2,813,556, $1,704,837 and $5,393,343, respectively.

In March 2002, the Company filed an action for declara-
tory judgment against Enzo Biochem, Inc. after receiving
notification that the Company had allegedly infringed one of
Enzo’s patents. Enzo Diagnostics, Inc. subsequently filed a
complaint for patent infringement against the Company. On
October 13, 2004, the Company executed a Settlement and
License Agreement with Enzo Biochem, Inc. and its subsidiary
Enzo Life Sciences, Inc. (formerly known as Enzo Diagnostics,
Inc.) (collectively, “Enzo”), to settle patent litigation claims
then pending in the United States District Court for the
District of Delaware.

Under the Settlement and License Agreement (the “Enzo
Agreement”), Digene received an irrevocable, non-exclusive,
royalty-bearing worldwide license under identified Enzo pat-
ents. Digene made an initial payment to Enzo of $16.0 mil-
lion, of which $2.0 million can be used to offset future royalty
payments under the terms of the Enzo Agreement, resulting
in $14.0 million in patent litigation settlement expense.
Digene will also pay Enzo royalties on future net sales of
products covered by the license grant, which royalties will be
at least $2.5 million for the first annual period, beginning
October 1, 2004 and ending September 30, 2005, and at least
$3.5 million for each of the next four annual periods under
the Enzo Agreement. Digene is obligated to make such guar-
anteed minimum payments in such first five annual periods.
Digene's obligation to make royalty payments will end on
April 24, 2018, unless earlier terminated in accordance with
the terms of the Enzo Agreement.

In July 2001, Institut Pasteur notified the Company that
Institut Pasteur was granted a new U.S. patent concerning the
HBV genome and requested information from Digene regard-
ing products that may use the technology described in such
new patent. On January 4, 2005, the Company made a pay-
ment for additional royalty and technology expense of
$750,000, which was accrued at December 31, 2004, relating
to terms agreed to on October 14, 2004 with Institut Pasteur
with respect to a non-exclusive license to Institut Pasteur’s
intellectual property concerning the HBV genome.
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Through a license with Georgetown University, the
Company obtained exclusive, worldwide rights to a United
States patent application (subsequently issued) and corre-
sponding foreign patents and patent applications relating to
HPV type 52 and to a United States patent and corresponding
foreign patents relating to the use of the L1 gene sequence to
detect specific human papillomavirus types. On July 12, 2005,
the Company executed a Settlement and License Agreement
with Georgetown University (the “Georgetown Agreement”)
to settle litigation then pending in the United States District
Court for the District of Columbia. Under the Georgetown
Agreement, the Company received irrevocable, world-wide,
exclusive, royalty-bearing licenses with the right to grant sub-
licenses under identified Georgetown patents. Additionally,
the Georgetown Agreement contained a mutual release for
all past claims. As of June 30, 2005, the Company recorded its
$7,500,000 obligation to Georgetown. In July 2005, the
Company made an initial payment to Georgetown University
of $3,750,000, and will make a second payment to Georgetown
University of $3,750,000 no later than October 15, 2005. The
Company will also pay Georgetown University royalties on
future net sales of products covered by the license grant.

REPURCHASE OF EQUIPMENT UNDER PRIOR MARKETING
AND DISTRIBUTION AGREEMENTS

On April 29, 2001, the Company entered into an agreement
(the "Roche Distribution Contract”) with Roche. Under the
Roche Distribution Contract, Roche acted as a co-exclusive
distributor for the Company’s HPV products in Europe, Africa
and the Middle East from May 1, 2001 through June 30, 2002
and the parties agreed to evaluate opportunities for a
broader relationship.

On April 30, 2001, in accordance with the provisions of the
Roche Distribution Contract, Roche made a non-refundable
payment of $5.0 million to the Company, which was recorded
as a deferred liability in the June 30, 2002 Consolidated
Balance Sheet. The Company and Roche did not enter into
the broader relationship referred to above and, therefore, in
accordance with the provisions of the Roche Distribution
Contract, on July 1, 2002, the $5.0 million payment was con-
verted into 142,857 shares of Common Stock of the Company
at $35 per share.
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In June 2002, the Company adopted as its sole strategy for
the distribution of its products in Europe, Africa and the
Middle East, a combination of direct distribution through its
European infrastructure and the use of local distributors and
agents. On June 30, 2002, the term of the Roche Distribution
Contract expired, subject to a non-exclusive wind-down
period. Under the Roche Distribution Contract, the Company
had the option, exercisable within 30 days after December 31,
2002, to buy back from Roche equipment purchased from the
Company by Roche and in use for HPV testing in customer’s
laboratories on june 30, 2002. In June 2002, as part of its stra-
tegic decision, the Company decided that it would exercise
the option to repurchase the equipment.

On December 20, 2002, Roche and Digene amended the
Roche Distribution Contract to terminate the wind-down
period on December 31, 2002 and to establish the procedures
for Digene’s repurchase from Roche of HPV-related testing
equipment purchased from Digene by Roche under the Roche
Distribution Contract.

In January 2003 Digene and its affiliates paid Roche an
aggregate of approximately $2.6 million for the HPV equip-
ment in inventory and in use at customers’ laboratories in
Europe. A portion of the purchase price was paid by the issu-
ance of a note payable due to Roche, which was paid in one
installment in January 2004, and the remainder of the pur-
chase price was paid in cash.

CO-PROMOTION AGREEMENT

In January 2001, the Company entered into an exclusive co-
promotion agreement with Cytyc for the promotion of the
Company’s hcy High-Risk HPV DNA Test for use with Cytyc's
ThinPrep® Pap Test in the United States and Puerto Rico. The
companies jointly promoted the benefits of testing for HPV
with the Digene hcy High-Risk HPV DNA Test directly from
Cytyc's ThinPrep Pap Test sample collection vial. Subject to
U.S. Food and Drug Administration approval, the companies
intended to co-promote the combined products as the most
effective primary screening method for cervical cancer. The
original term of the agreement expired June 30, 2002 and
was allowed to automatically renew until June 30, 2003. This
agreement was not renewed at June 30, 2003. In accordance
with the co-promotion agreement, Digene paid Cytyc for its
co-promotion activities based on a product sales-derived for-
mula. For the year ended June 30, 2003, the Company
recorded expenses of approximately $2.3 million, related to
payments due to Cytyc for these co-promotion activities. For
the years ended June 30, 2004 and 2005, there were no
expenses incurred.

CONTINGENCIES

The Company is involved in various claims and legal proceed-
ings of a nature considered normal to its business including
protection of its owned and licensed intellectual property.
The Company records accruals for such contingencies when it
is probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount
can be reasonably estimated. These accruals are adjusted
periodically as assessments change or additional information
becomes available.

8. Warranties

The Company reserves approximately 2% of product sales for
its standard warranty obligations. The Company also offers its
customers extended warranties on its equipment. The revenue
from these extended warranties is deferred and is recognized
evenly over the period of the extended warranty. Changes in
the Company’s standard warranty reserve are as follows:

For the Year
Ended June 30,

2004 2005
Balance, beginning of period $ 633,430 $ 896,626
Warranties issued
during the period 1,776,057 2,274,912
Changes in liability for
pre-existing warranties
during the period,
including expirations (1,512,861) (2,034,289)
Balance, end of period $ 896,626 $ 1,137,249

9. Retirement Plan

The Company sponsors a 401(k) Profit Sharing Plan (the
“Plan”), which covers all employees. Employees may contrib-
ute to the Plan beginning the first of the month after hire.
The Plan stipulates that employees may elect an amount up
to 100% of their total compensation to contribute to the
Plan. Employee contributions are subject to Internal Revenue
Service limitations. It is recommended that elective deferral
contributions not exceed between 80% and 90% of eligible
pay to allow for withholding of Social Security, Federal and
state taxes. This maximum deferral percentage will also allow
for employer contributions, if any. All employees who have
completed 1,000 hours of service during the plan year and are
employed by the Company on the last day of the plan year
are eligible to share in discretionary Company contributions.
Employees vest in such discretionary employer contributions
over five years. No contributions were made by the Company
during the years ended June 30, 2003 or 2004. In January
2005, the Company contributed approximately $122,000 to
the Plan relating to the calendar year 2004 employee contri-
butions. As of June 30, 2004 and 2005, the Company recorded
an accrual of approximately $50,000 and $75,000, respec-
tively, for contributions to be made in the next fiscal year.
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10. Significant Customers and Geographic information
For the year ended June 30, 2003, two customers comprised 13% and 10% of total revenues, respectively. For the year ended
June 30, 2004, two customers generated 17% and 10% of total revenue, respectively. For the year ended June 30, 2005, two
customers generated 20% and 12% of total revenue, respectively. As of June 30, 2004 and 2005, the Company recorded receiv-
able balances of approximately $4,186,000 and $5,399,000, respectively, from these customers.

The Company operates one business segment that develops, manufactures and markets proprietary gene-based tests for
the detection, screening and monitoring of human diseases. Worldwide operations are summarized by geographic region in
the following table:

2003 2004 2005
Assets Revenues Assets Revenues Assets Revenues
North America $50,845,853 $46,279,902 $ 92,526,699 $67,169,751 $ 92,682,912 $ 88,577,142
Europe 11,310,693 11,174,822 9,789,249 15,841,533 12,690,511 18,221,949
Latin America 1,170,898 2,703,297 928,048 3,292,641 1,464,285 3,973,103
Pacific Rim 47,706 2,943,875 26,252 3,856,643 7,722 4,369,409

$63,375,150 $63,101,896 $103,270,248 $90,160,568 $106,845,430 $115,141,603

11. Quarterly Resuits of Operations (Unaudited)
The following is a summary of quarterly results of operations for the fiscal quarters (in thousands, except per share amounts):

First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
2005
Revenues $26,211 $26,953 $29,667 $32,311
Net income (loss) $(6,273) $ 304 $ 1,565 $(3,763)
Basic net income (loss) per share $ (0.32) $ 0.02 $ 0.08 $ (0.19)
Diluted net income per share $ (0.32) $ 0.01 $ 0.08 $ (0.19)
2004
Revenues $19,618 $21,114 $23,565 $25,863
Net income (loss) $ 655 $ 948 $ 2,490 $17,448
Basic net income (loss) per share $ 0.04 $ 0.05 $ 013 $ 0.88
Diluted net income (loss) per share $ 0.03 $ 0.05 $ 0.12 $ 083

The sum of basic and diluted net income (loss) per share for the four quarters in each of fiscal 2005 and 2004 may not
equal basic and diluted net income (loss) per share for the year due to the changes in the number of weighted-average
shares outstanding during the year.

The increase in net income from approximately $2,490,000 in the third quarter of fiscal 2004 to approximately $17,488,000
in the fourth quarter in fiscal 2004 primarily relates to the partial reversal of the deferred tax valuation allowance approximating
$14.9 million.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND STOCKHOLDERS
DIGENE CORPORATION

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Digene Corporation as of June 30, 2004 and 2005, and the
related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended June 30, 2005. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe
that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred 1o above present fairly, in all material respects, the consoli-
dated financial position of Digene Corporation at June 30, 2004 and 2005, and the consolidated results of its operations and
its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended June 30, 2005, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States),
the effectiveness of Digene Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting as of June 30, 2005, based on criteria estab-
lished in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission and our report dated August 12, 2005 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Samet + MLLP

Mclean, Virginia
August 12, 2005
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Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such
term is defined in Securities Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). There are inherent limitations in the effectiveness of any internal
controls over financial reporting, including the possibility of human error and the circumvention or overriding of controls.
Accordingly, even effective internal controls over financial reporting can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to
financial statement preparation. Our internal control system was designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with gener-
ally accepted accounting principles. Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our
principal executive officer and principal financial officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal
control over financial reporting based on the framework in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on our evaluation under the framework in Internal
Control—Integrated Framework, our management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effec-
tive as of June 30, 2005 to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation
of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Our manage-
ment’s assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of June 30, 2005 has been audited
by Ernst & Young LLP, independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which is included below.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND STOCKHOLDERS
DIGENE CORPORATION

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control Over
Financial Reporting that Digene Corporation maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of June 30 2005,
based on criteria established in Internal Control—integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
of the Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria). Digene Corporation’s management is responsible for maintaining effective
internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting.
Qur responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s
internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective
internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding
of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and oper-
ating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances.
We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures
that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dis-
positions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expen-
ditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company;
and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition
of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadeguate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that Digene Corporation maintained effective internal contro! over financial
reporting as of June 30, 2005, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the COSQ criteria. Also, in our opinion, Digene
Corporation maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of Digene Corporation,
based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States),
the consolidated balance sheets of Digene Corporation as of June 30, 2004 and 2005, and the related consolidated statements
of operations, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended June 30, 2005 of Digene
Corporation and our report dated August 12, 2005 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Snmet o WMP

McLean, Virginia
August 12, 2005




Reconciliation of GAAP Financial information to Non-GAAP Financial Information

To supplement our consolidated financial statements presented in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles
(GAAP), Digene uses non-GAAP measures of certain components of financial performance, including income before income
taxes, net income and earnings per share, which are adjusted from results based on GAAP. Although "as adjusted” financial
measures are non-GAAP financial measures, we believe that the presentation of "as adjusted” financial measures calculated to
exclude “special items” are useful adjuncts to the GAAP “as reported” financial measures. “Special items” consist of:

s an adjustment to reflect a 38% effective tax rate for each of FY '05 and FY ‘04

¢ and for FY ‘05, “special items” also exclude a $7.5 million patent litigation settlement expense accrual we made under our
Settlement and License Agreement with Georgetown University, and a $14 million patent litigation settlement expense
from payments we made under our Settlement and License Agreement with Enzo Biochem, Inc.

The presentation of “as adjusted” financial measures in each reported period reflects adjustments for the “special items”
detailed above.

These non-GAAP measures are provided to enhance investors’ overall understanding of Digene’s current financial perfor-
mance and its prospects for the future. These measures should be considered in addition to results prepared in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, but should not be considered a substitute for, or superior to, GAAP results. The

following table shows the reconciliation of non-GAAP measures included in this annual report to the most directly comparable
GAAP measure.

T - e,
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Reconciliation of GAAP Financial Infermation to Non-GAAP Financial Information
Twelve Months Ended June 30, 2005 and June 30, 2004

(in thousands, except net income (loss) per share and shares)

INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAX
Income (loss)ibefore income tax—as reported

Special item(s):
Exclude Georgetown University patent litigation settlement expense
Exclude Enzo Biochem Inc. patent litigation settlement expense

Income (loss) before income tax—as adjusted
NET INCOME (LOSS)
Net income (loss)—as reported

Special item(s):
Adjustment to reflect 38% tax rate
Exclude Georgetown University patent litigation settlement expense
Exclude Enzo Biochem Inc. patent litigation settlement expense

Net income—as adjust™d
DILUTED NET INCOME (L. ’SS) PER SHARE
Diluted net income (loss) } er share—as reported

Special item(s):
Adjustment to reflect 38% tax rate
Exclude Georgetown Unive rsity patent litigation settlement expense
Exclude Enzo Biochem Inc. | atent litigation settlement expense
Adjustment for increase in d_luted shares outstanding—as adjusted

[

Diluted net income (loss) per shhare—as adjusted
)
Diluted weighted average sha es outstanding—as reported
Special item(s): &
Increase in shares due to net .Joss—as reported
k2

versus net income—as adjusi{ed

. . ) . .
Diluted weighted average share: 3 outstanding—as adjusted

et

Twelve Months Ended
June 30, 2005

Twelve Months Ended
June 30, 2004

$  (10,741) $ 7,217
7,500 —
14,000 _

$ 10,759 $ 7.217

$ (8,167) $ 21,542
(6,662) (17,067)
7,500 —
14,000 —

$ 6,671 $ 4,475

$ (0.41) $ 1.04
(0.33) (0.82)
0.38 —
0.70 _
(0.02) —

$ 0.32 $ 0.22

19,964,800 20,806,078
695,585 —

20,660,385 20,806,078
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Stock Profile and Activity

Since Digene’s initial public offering
of Common Stock on May 22, 1996, our
Common Stock has been traded on
the Nasdaq National Market under the
symbol “DIGE.”

The following table sets forth, for the
fiscal gquarters indicated, the high and
low bid prices for the Common Stock, as
reported by the Nasdaq National Market:

Fiscal 2006 High Low
(through September 8, 2005)

First quarter $32.14 $27.25
Fiscal 2005

Fourth quarter $29.66 $16.94
Third quarter 26.82 20.46
Second quarter 27.45 18.50
First quarter 36.25 19.88
Fiscal 2004

Fourth quarter $40.86 $33.02
Third quarter 48.50 29.33
Second quarter 46.24 32.59
First quarter 49.45 25.7

On September 8, 2005, the closing sale
price for the Common Stock, as reported
by the Nasdaq National Market, was
$29.98. As of September 8, 2005, Digene’s
Common Stock was held by 148 holders
of record.

Digene has never paid dividends on
our Common Stock and we do not antici-
pate paying any cash dividends on our
Common Stock in the foreseeable future.

Trademarks

Digene, Hybrid Capture, DNAwithPap,
hcz High-Risk HPV DNA Test and Rapid
Capture are registered trademarks, and
UCM, DNAPap and the HPV test logo

are trademarks of Digene Corporation.
ThinPrep and PreservCyt are registered
trademarks of Cytyc Corporation. SurePath
is a trademark of TriPath Imaging, Inc.
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